
10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #1JudiciarySupremeCourt [GO!] [GO!] CourtsAdministratorContactUsThisslipopinionissubjecttorevisionandmaynotreflectthefinalopinionadoptedbytheCourt.pinionSupremeCourtofMissouriCaseStyle:KathleenWeinschenk,etal.,Respondents,v.StateofMissouri,Appellant,RobinCarnahan,SecretaryofState,Respondent,DaleMorrisandSenatorDelbertScott,Intervenors�Appellants.CaseNumber:SC88039HanddownDate:10/16/2006AppealFrom:CircuitCourtofColeCounty,Hon.RichardG.CallahanCounselforAppellant:MarkE.Long,MarkF.(Thor)Hearne,II,JamesB.DeutschandAlokAhujaCounselforRespondent:BarbaraJaneWood,DonM.DowningandEricaL.AirsmanOpinionSummary:Duringits2006legislativesession,thegeneralassemblypassedSenateBillNo.1014,whichaddressedvariouselectionissues.Oneofthebill'sprovisions,section115.427,RSMo,requiresvoterstopresentcertainformsofphotographicidentification("photoID")beforevoting.Specifically,itprohibitsotherwisequalifiedandlawfullyregisteredvotersfromcastingaregularballotunlesstheypresentavalid,unexpiredstateorfederalidentificationdocumentwiththeperson'sname,aslistedinthevoterregistrationrecords,andtheperson'sphotograph.ThesewouldincludeaMissouridriver'slicense,aMissourinonÊdriver'slicenseandaUnitedStatespassport.ThebilltookeffectAugust28,2006.AgroupoftaxpayerssubsequentlysuedthestateofMissourianditssecretaryofstate.AMissourivoterandthebill'ssponsor,Sen.DelbertScott,RÊLowryCity,werepermittedtointerveneasdefendantsinthesuit.Attrial,evidencewaspresentedthatalloftheplaintiffsarequalified,registeredMissourivoterswholackrequisitephotoID.Theplaintiffspresentedevidencethatsome169,000to240,000citizens,orbetween3and4percentofMissourians,lacktherequisitephotoIDand,therefore,wouldneedtoobtainaMissouridriver'sornonÊdriver'slicenseorapassporttovote.TheypresentedevidencethateachoftheseformsofidentificationnormallycostsmoneytoobtainandthatthosecostspresentapracticalproblemforMissourianswhocannotaffordthecostsorwhobelievetheyshouldnotbeforcedtopayfeestoexercisetheirrighttovote.TherecordshowsthatMissouricharges$15toprovideabirthcertificaterequiredtoobtainanonÊdriver'slicenseandthatMissouriansborninotherstatesmustpayfeesrangingfrom$5to$30toobtaintheirbirthcertificates.TherecordshowsthatMissouriansmustalsowaitbetweensixandeightweekstoreceiveabirthcertificateafterpayingtherequiredamount.Therecordshowsthatitcostsbetween$97and$236toobtainapassport.TherecordshowsthatmanyMissourians,particularlythosebornathome,donothaveabirthcertificateandthatitismoredifficulttoobtainapassportwithoutabirthcertificate.Therecordfurthershowsthat,toobtaintherequisitephotoID,voterswhosenameshavechangedmustsupplyadditionaldocumentationthatrequiresthevoterstopayadditionalfees.Theplaintiffsalsopresentedevidence,throughthetestimonyofstateandlocalMissourielectionofficialsandexhibits,thatvoterimpersonationfraudisnotaprobleminMissouriandthat,whiletherehavebeeninstancesofabsenteeballotandregistrationfraud,SB1014'sphotoIDrequirementwillnotsolvethesefraudproblems.Thetrialcourtheldthattheportionofsection115.427thatrequiresvoterstopresentcertainformsofphotoIDbeforevotingviolatesMissourians'rightstovoteandtoequalprotectionofthelawgrantedbythestateconstitution.Thetrialcourtalsoheldthat,becauseSB1014requireslocalelectionauthoritiestofundthecostofprovidingprovisionalballotsandothercosts,thebillimposesnewmandatesonlocalgovernmentswithoutappropriatingstatefundstocovertheseincreasedcostsinviolationofarticleX,section21ofthestateconstitution,knownastheHancockamendment.ThetrialcourtdidnotprovideanyremedyfortheHancockviolation.Thestate,MorrisandScottappeal.AFFIRMED.Courtenbancholds:(1)ThetrialcourtproperlyheldthatSB1014'sphotoIDrequirementviolatestheequalprotectionclauseofarticleI,section2ofthestateconstitution.ItalsoproperlyheldthatthephotoIDrequirementviolatestherighttovoteasguaranteedbyarticleI,section25ofthestateconstitution,whichprovidesmoreexpansiveandconcreteprotectiontotherighttovotethanthefederalconstitution.Inreaching



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #2providesmoreexpansiveandconcreteprotectiontotherighttovotethanthefederalconstitution.Inreachingtheseconclusions,thisCourtappliesstrictscrutinyanalysis,inwhichanylimitationonafundamentalrightmustservecompellingstateinterestsandmustbenarrowlytailoredtomeetthoseinterests.SB1014'sphotoIDrequirementfailstopassconstitutionalscrutinybecauseitcreatesaheavyburdenonthefundamentalrighttovoteandisnotnarrowlytailoredtomeetacompellingstateinterest.(2)Manyofthebetween3and4percentofMissourianswholacktherequisitephotoIDareeligibleregisteredvoterswho,underthenewlaw,willnotbeabletocastaregularballot(or,after2008whentheprovisionalballotavailabilityexpires,anyballotatall)unlesstheyobtaintherequisitephotoID.RequiringtheseMissourianstoobtainoneofthelimitedtypesofphotoIDapprovedbySB1014inordertovoteismorethanademinimis(verysmallortrifling)burdenontheirconstitutionalrightofsuffrage.(3)TheUnitedStatesSupremeCourthasheldthatwealthorpaymentofmoneyshouldhavenorelationtothefreeexerciseoftherighttovote.Harperv.Va.Bd.ofElections,383U.S.663,668(1966).TherecanbenolesserrequirementunderMissourilaw.ThefactthatMissourihaswaivedthecostsnormallychargedforanonÊdriver'slicensedoesnotmakethelicensefreebecause,astheevidenceshowed,Missourianswithoutcertifiedcopiesofthedocumentationneededforthelicensestillmustexpendsumsofmoneytoobtainthelicense.SpecificMissourivoterstestifiedthattoacquiretherequisitephotoID,attheveryleasttheywillhavetoincurthecostsassociatedwithbirthcertificates,whichinMissouricosts$15.Theevidencealsoshowedthat,ifapersonrequiresdocumentationbeyondabirthcertificate,thecostsaregreater.Thesearefeesthatqualified,eligible,registeredvoterswholackapprovedphotoIDarerequiredtopaytoexercisetheirrighttovoteunderSB1014.Procuringthedocumentationnecessarytoobtainthemandatoryidentificationrequiresfunds,timeandadvanceplanningtoallowforthesixtoeightweekstherecordshowedittakestoobtainaMissouribirthcertificate.ThetrialcourtcorrectlyconcludedthatthephotoIDprovisionsofSB1014representaheavyandsubstantialburdenonMissourians'freeexerciseoftheirrighttovote.(4)WhileMissourihasacompellingstateinterestinpreservingtheintegrityoftheelectionprocessandpreventingvoterfraud,thetrialcourtproperlyfoundthattheevidencepresentednegatestheclaimthatthephotoIDrequirementisnarrowlytailoredtoaccomplishthatpurpose.ThepartiesacknowledgethatthephotoIDrequirementcanonlypreventimpersonationofaregisteredvoterandwillnotaffectabsenteeballotfraudorregistrationfraud.TherewasnoevidenceofanyvoterimpersonationfraudinMissourisincethegeneralassemblyenactedthepreviousversionofsection115.427,whichwaspassedin2002inresponsetothefederalHelpAmericaVoteActandallowedvoterstopresentmanymoreanddifferenttypesofidentificationinordertovote.WhileMissourialsohasaninterestincombatingperceptionsofvoterfraud,wherethefundamentalrightstovoteofMissouricitizensareatstake,morethanmereperceptionisrequiredfortheirabridgment.Theidentificationrequirementdoesnotaddressanyperceptionofvoterfraudwithprecision,norisitnecessarytosolveanyexistingvoterfraudproblems.Thisrequirement,therefore,failstopassconstitutionalscrutinyandcannotstand.(5)Asatransitionalmeasure,SB1014allowsvoterswholacktherequisitephotoIDbutareotherwisequalifiedtovotetocastaprovisionalballotinelectionsbetweennowandNovember2008.Section115.247.13.Transitionalprovisionscannotstandontheirownwhere,ashere,whattheytransitiontoisinvalid.Thetransitionalprovisionsofsection115.427.13,therefore,mustbestruckdowntogetherwiththepermanentprovisionsofSB1014'sphotoIDrequirement.(6)BecausethisCourtdeterminesthatthetransitionalprovisionsarenotseverablefromthepermanentprovisions,itneednotanddoesnotreachthequestionofwhetherthetransitionalprovisionsareconstitutionallyvalid.ThevalidityofthepermanentprovisionsisripebecausethedisputeregardingthephotoÊIDrequirementisimmediateandconcrete.Ifthisrequirementisvalidandenforceable,thenMissourivotersmusttakeactionandincurcostsbetweennowandwhenthetransitionalperiodendsinNovember2008tosecuretheirabilitytovoteinthefuture.Further,theproceduresonemustfollowtoobtainproperidentificationandthecostofobtainingthenecessarysupportingdocumentationwereprovedwithsufficientcertaintytothetrialcourt.ThatthegeneralassemblyinthenexttwoyearsmightchangetheseidentificationrequirementsisnobarriertothisCourt'sdeterminationofwhethertheversionofsection115.427presentlyineffectisvalid.(7)AlthoughthetrialcourtfoundthatSB1014violatestheHancockamendment,itnonethelessenteredjudgmentonthisissueinfavorofthestate.Thestate,therefore,isnotaggrievedbythetrialcourt'sdictaonthisissue,andthetaxpayershavenotappealedit.ThisCourt,therefore,doesnotaddresstheHancockissuefurther.DissentingopinionbyJudgeLimbaugh:(1)TheauthoragreesthattheCourtshouldnotaddresstheHancockissueatthistime,buttheauthorwouldreversethetrialcourt'sdecisiondeclaringthetransitionalprovisionsunconstitutional.Theauthornotesthat,duringthetwoÊyeartransitionalperiodbeforethe2008generalelection,everypersonwhoisregisteredproperlytovotewillbeallowedtodoso,andeventhosewithoutavalidphotographicidentificationwillbeallowedtocastaprovisionalballotusingthesamemeansofidentificationthathavebeenrequiredsince2002.Theauthorfurtherwouldholdthatthetransitionalprovisionsdonotviolatetheconstitution,disenfranchiseanyvoterorplacearealburdenonanindividual'srighttovote.Theauthornotesthatsection115.427.12,whichprovidesthatifanyvoterisunabletosignhisorhername,anelectionjudgeshallprintthevoter'snameandwitnessthevotermakinghisorhermark,appliestotheprovisionalvoteraffidavitusedinlieuofthevoteridentificationcertificateforthosevoterscastingaprovisionalballot.Theauthorwouldfindthatasignaturematchisaconstitutionallypermissiblemeanstoverifyavoter'sidentity.Theauthornotesthat,oncetheaffidavitsignatureisverified,theprovisionalballotshallbecounted.Theauthorwouldholdthat,undertherulesofstatutoryconstruction,becausesection115.430wasamendedtoincorporatesection115.427andthatsection'sapplicationto"anyelection,"theamendmenttosection115.430servedto



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #3section115.427andthatsection'sapplicationto"anyelection,"theamendmenttosection115.430servedtorepeal,byimplication,section115.430'slimitationtoprimaryandgeneralelections.TheauthorwouldholdthatthetwoÊyeartransitionalprovisionscouldbeseveredfromtheremainderofthevoterÊidentificationlawpursuanttothecontrollinglanguageofsection1.140,RSMo,whichprovidesthatallstatutespresumptivelyareseverable.Theauthornotesthattheprovisionalsectionsinfactstandalone,arecompleteandarecapableofbeingexecutedinaccordancewithlegislativeintentandthatthegeneralassemblydidnotspecifythatthesesectionsshouldbesevered,eventhoughitdidstatesuchanintentwithregardtoothersections.(2)Theauthoralsowouldreverse,onjurisdictionalgrounds,thetrialcourt'sdecisiondeclaringthepermanentprovisionsofSB1014unconstitutional.TheauthorwouldholdthatanydeterminationoftheconstitutionalvalidityofthephotographÊidentificationprovisionsofSB1014astheyapplyafterthetwoÊyeartransitionalperiodisnotyetripeforadjudicationbecausetherecurrentlyisnoharmtovotersandbecause,intheinterim,thegeneralassemblymayacttoalleviatetheperceiveddeficienciesregardingthecostofobtainingthephotographicidentification.(3)TheauthornotesthattherewasevidenceofvoterfraudinMissouriduringthe2000presidentialelection,givingrisetoaneedtoaddresssuchaproblemthroughSB1014.Theauthorfurtherwouldcautionagainstcategoricallydisallowingallphotographicidentificationsasanunconstitutionalinfringementontherighttovote.Citation:OpinionAuthor:PERCURIAMOpinionVote:AFFIRMED.Wolff,C.J.,Stith,TeitelmanandWhite,JJ.,andBlackmar,Sr.J.,andRahmeyer,Sp.J.,concur;Limbaugh,J.,dissentsinseparateopinionfiled.PriceandRussell,JJ.,notparticipating.Opinion:Aftera2006statutewasenactedrequiringregisteredvoterstopresentcertaintypesofstateÊorfederallyÊissuedphotographicidentificationinordertocastregularballots,Ms.KathleenWeinschenkandotherssuedthestatetoblockenforcementofthelawonthegroundsthatitinterferedwiththefundamentalrighttovoteasprotectedbytheMissouriandUnitedStatesconstitutions.Ms.Weinschenkandtheothersclaimedthatthenewlawrequiredthemandothervoters–particularlythosewhoarelowÊincome,disabledorelderlyandwhodonothavedriver'slicenses–tospendmoneytoobtainthenecessarydocumentssuchasbirthcertificatesinordertoobtaintherequisitephotoID.Thetrialcourtdeclaredthelawunconstitutional.TheStateofMissouriandIntervenorsDaleMorrisandSenatorDelbertScott(collectively"Appellants"),(FN1)appealthetrialcourt'sholdingthattheportionofSenateBill1014("SB1014")requiringpresentationofcertainformsofphotographicidentification("photoID")tovoteisunconstitutionalbecauseitviolatesMissourians'rightstovoteandtoequalprotectionofthelaws.TheserightsareatthecoreofMissouri'sconstitutionand,hence,receivestateconstitutionalprotectionsevenmoreextensivethanthoseprovidedbythefederalconstitution.ThetrialcourtsoheldbecauseitfoundthatthoseportionsofSB1014,whichnowarefoundatSection115.427,2006Mo.Laws728ÿ32,(FN2)("PhotoÊIDRequirement")unnecessarilyburdentherighttovoteofMissourianswhoareproperlyregisteredbutarenonethelessbarredfromvotingattheirdesignatedvotingprecinct(orpermittedtovoteonlyprovisionally)becausetheydonothaveoneofthelimitedtypesofidentifyingdocumentsrequiredbySB1014toexercisetheirrightofsuffrage.ThisCourtagreesthatSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementviolatesMissouri'sequalprotectionclause,Mo.Const.art.I,sec.2,andMissouri'sconstitutionalguaranteeoftherightofitsqualified,registeredcitizenstovote.Mo.Const.art.I,sec.25;art.VIII,sec.2.WhilethisCourtfullyagreeswithAppellantsthatthereisacompellingstateinterestinpreventingvoterfraud,theevidencesupportsthetrialcourt'sconclusionthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementisnotnarrowlytailoredtoaccomplishthatpurpose.Witnessesinthetrialcourtdidtestifytopastinstancesoffraudintheformofabsenteeballotandregistrationfraud.But,asAppellantsacknowledge,thePhotoÊIDRequirementisintendedtopreventonlyimpersonationofaregisteredvoterandwillnotaffectabsenteeballotorregistrationfraud.Theevidencebelowshows,however,thatourlegislaturehasalreadyeliminatedtheopportunitytocommitvoterimpersonationfraudwiththeenactmentoftheprecautionsitadoptedinresponsetothefederalHelpAmericaVoteAct("HAVA")in2002.(FN3)Infact,theonlyspecificinstanceofpossiblefraudthathasoccurredsince2002ofwhichthewitnesseswereawareinvolvedanattempt(whetherintentionaloraccidentalisnotclear)byapersonwhohadvotedabsenteetothenvoteinperson.ThisconductwouldnotbeaffectedbySB1014andwasdiscoveredandpreventedpriortotheimplementationofthePhotoÊIDRequirement.AppellantsarguethatthePhotoÊIDRequirementnonethelessshouldremaininplacebecauseitwillreassurevoterswho"perceive"thatfraudexists.AstherehasbeennoreportedcaseofvoterimpersonationfraudsincetheHAVAprotectionswereputinplace,however,thisjustificationplacestoogreatanencumbranceontherighttovoteofMissourianswhocannotshowtheveryspecificandoftencostlytoobtainphotoIDsthestatuterequires.ThestatutedoesprovideanalternativeidentificationprocedurethatwillallowvoterswholackoneofthespecifiedphotoIDstocastaprovisionalballotincertainelectionsbetweennowandNovember2008,butthesetransitional



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #4photoIDstocastaprovisionalballotincertainelectionsbetweennowandNovember2008,butthesetransitionalprovisionsarenotseverablefromthepermanentprovisions,sothisCourtneednotdecidethequestionoftheirconstitutionality.Accordingly,thetrialcourtjudgmentenjoiningenforcementofthePhotoÊIDRequirementofSB1014,nowsection115.427,isaffirmed.I.FACTUALANDPROCEDURALBACKGROUNDSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementprohibitsotherwisequalifiedandlawfullyregisteredMissouriansfromvotingiftheypresentonlyoutÊofÊstatepictureidentification,socialsecuritycards,utilitybills,schoolorworkIDs,orotherdocumentsthatservedasproperidentificationundertheversionofsection115.427ineffectpriortotheenactmentofSB1014.(FN4)Seesec.115.427.1,RSMoSupp.2005.AsamendedbySB1014,section115.427nowrequiresthatMissourianspresentasidentificationadocumentissuedbythestateorfederalgovernmentsthatcontainstheperson'snameaslistedinthevoterregistrationrecords,theperson'sphotograph,andanexpirationdateshowingthattheIDisnotexpired.Sec.115.427.1.(FN5)Inpracticaleffect,theonlydocumentsthatmostMissourianswouldhavethatcouldmeettheserequirementsareaMissouridriver'sornonÊdriver'slicenseoraUnitedStatespassport.(FN6)Therecordbelowrevealsthatbetween3and4percentofMissouricitizenslacktherequisitephotoIDandwould,thus,needtoobtainadriver'sornonÊdriver'slicenseorapassportinordertovote.Specifically,thetrialcourtnotedthattheSecretaryofState'sanalysisinAugust2006estimatedthatapproximately240,000registeredvotersmaynothavetherequiredphotoIDandthattheDepartmentofRevenue'sestimateofthesamewasapproximately169,215individuals.EachoftheseformsofID,however,normallycostsmoneytoobtain.ThispresentsapracticalproblemforMissourianswhowillbediscouragedfromattemptingtovotebecauseoftheirconcernthattheymustpayafeetodoso.ItalsopresentsalegalprobleminthattheUnitedStatesSupremeCourtheldinHarperv.VirginiaStateBoardofElections,383U.S.663(1966),thatanytaxorfeeimposedontherighttovotepresentsanundueburdenontheexerciseofthatright.Asthehighcourtstated,wealthorpaymentofmoneyshouldhavenorelationtothefreeexerciseoftherighttovote.Harper,383U.S.at668("Tointroducewealthorpaymentofafeeasameasureofavoter'squalificationsistointroduceacapriciousorirrelevantfactor").ThelegislatureprovidedthatMissourianswholackaproperunexpiredphotoIDmayobtainaMissourinonÊdriver'slicensefreeofcharge.Sec.115.427.7.Toaidthemindoingso,SB1014providesthat"mobileprocessingunits,"atwhichthesefreenonÊdriver'slicensescanbeobtained,willbemadeavailableuponrequestto"anydisabledorelderlypersonotherwisecompetenttovote...[whois]physicallyunabletootherwiseobtain"anonÊdriver'slicense.Id.SB1014alsoprovidesamechanismforwaivingthePhotoÊIDRequirementforcertainclassesofpersonswhoareotherwiseregisteredandmeetallofMissouri'sconstitutionalqualificationstovotebut,underSB1014,nonethelesswouldbedeniedtherighttovoteforlackofaproperID.Thosepersonscancasta"provisionalballot"iftheysignanaffidavitswearingthatthereasontheyhavenoacceptablephotoIDisthattheyareunabletoobtainsuchidentificationbecauseofadisabilityorhandicap,becauseofasincerelyheldreligiousbelief,orbecausetheywerebornonorbefore1941.Sec.115.427.4.LackoffundsortimetoundertakethesometimeslaboriousprocessofobtainingaproperphotoIDinsituationsinwhichabirthcertificateisnoteasilyavailableorinwhichawomanhaschangedhernamesincebirtharenotgroundsforcastingaprovisionalballotunderthisprovision.(FN7)Inaddition,theprovisionalballotwillnotbecountedunlessthesignatureontheaffidavitmatchesthesignatureonfilewiththeelectionauthority.Id.Anelectionofficialtestifiedbelowthatsignaturesmaychangeovertimeorduetodisabilityorage.Further,thetrialcourtfoundthatatleastoneoftheindividualplaintiffsinthiscase"isunabletomakeaconsistentsignatureormark,[and]therefore,hersignaturewillnotmatchthesignatureonhervoterregistrationrecord."Nonetheless,noexceptiontothesignaturematchrequirementismadeforMissourianswhoareunable,becauseofdisabilityorage,tomakeasignatureorwhosesignaturehaschangedduetodisabilityorthepassageoftimesincetheymadetheiroriginalsignaturewhentheyinitiallyregisteredtovote.Thus,suchpersons'provisionalballotswillnotbecountedunderthestatute.(FN8)PlaintiffsallegethattheparticularPhotoÊIDRequirementsetoutinSB1014(unliketheantiÊfraudIDprovisionsrequiredunderHAVAandineffectinMissourifrom2002untilSB1014becameeffective)doesnotpassconstitutionalscrutinyonamultitudeofgrounds.(FN9)ThetrialcourtagreedthatPlaintiffsestablishedtheunconstitutionalityofSB1014onthreegroundsrelatingtotheburdensthelawimposesonMissourians'freeexerciseoftheirrighttovoteassetoutintheMissouriConstitution.(FN10)Morespecifically,thetrialcourtagreedwithPlaintiffsthat,whileonitsfacethePhotoÊIDRequirementappearstopermitMissourianswithoutanacceptablephotoIDtoobtainonewithoutcost,inrealityitdoesnotdosobecausethePhotoÊIDRequirementofSB1014mustbereadtogetherwiththerequirementsoftheFederalREALIDActof2005,Pub.L.109ÿ13,TitleII.ThatfederalactdoesnotpermitMissouritoissue"free"nonÊdriver'slicensestoitscitizensunlessapplicantsfirstpresentidentificationsuchasaUnitedStatespassportorbirthcertificate.Id.;seealso12CSR10ÿ24.448.Bothpassportsandbirthcertificatesarethemselvescostly.Infact,therecordrevealsthatMissouricharges$15toprovidethecertified,embossedcopyofabirthcertificaterequiredbytheFederalREALIDActtoobtainanonÊdriver'slicense.Missouriansborninotherstatesmustpayfeesrangingfrom$5to$30toobtainofficialcopiesoftheirbirthcertificates.Apassportisevenmoreexpensive.TherecordrevealsthatapersonbornintheUnitedStateswhowishestoobtainaUnitedStatespassportmustpaybetween$97and$236,dependingonthe



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #5UnitedStateswhowishestoobtainaUnitedStatespassportmustpaybetween$97and$236,dependingonthespeedwithwhichonemayneedthepassport.Forapersonbornoutsidethecountry,thecostofapassportmaybehigherduetothecostofadditionaldocumentsneededasproofofcitizenshipornaturalization.(FN11)Furthermore,therecordshowsthatifavoter'snamehaschanged,heorshemustsupplyadditionaldocumentationtoobtainoneoftherequisitephotoIDs.(FN12)Nameschangeforamyriadofreasonsinoursociety:womenoftenfollowthesocialcustomoftakingtheirhusband'snameuponmarriage;intheeventofadivorce,womenoccasionallyreverttousingtheirmaidenname;certainindividualschoosetochangetheirnameforpersonalorpoliticalreasons;stillothersexperienceanamechangewhentheirparents'maritalstatuschangessubsequenttobirth.AllthosecitizenswholackaproperphotoIDandwhosenameshavechangedfromthetimetheyreceivedtheirbirthcertificate(ortheirpassport)mustobtainadditionaldocumentationofthenamechange(e.g.,certifiedmarriagecertificate,certifieddivorcedecree,amendedbirthcertificate)toobtainanIDthatcomportswiththerequirementsofSB1014.Thisadditionaldocumentationrequiresthepaymentoffurtherfees.Forexample,thecostofacertifiedcopyofamarriagelicenserangesfrom$5to$30.Thetrialcourtalsonotedthat,inadditiontothemonetarycostsimposedonpersonsseekingtoobtaintheproperphotoID,theprocesstodosoimposesadditionalpracticalcosts,includingnavigatingstateand/orfederalbureaucracies,andtraveltoandfromtheDepartmentofRevenueandothergovernmentagencies.Oneofthesepracticalcostsisthetimeittakestoreceivetheappropriatedocumentation.InMissouri,thewaitingperiodforabirthcertificatealoneissixtoeightweeks.InLouisiana,thebirthplaceofmanyKatrinarefugeeswhohavetakenshelterinMissouri,theprocessingperiodiseighttotenweeks.Shouldcitizensneedadditionaldocuments,thebureaucratichurdlesandwaitingperiodswouldincrease.PlaintiffsclaimthatformanyofMissouri'squalifiedvoters,includingthepoor,elderlyanddisabled,thesehurdlestoobtainingtheproperphotoIDarenotinsignificant.Thetrialcourtagreed,findingtheseconcernsrealratherthanspeculativebasedonevidencepertainingtotheindividualplaintiffs,allofwhomarequalifiedMissourivoterswholackanacceptablephotoIDandwhowouldstruggleorbeunabletoobtainone.Forexample,Ms.Weinschenktestifiedthatshedoesnotcurrentlyhaveabirthcertificate.ShewasborninArkansas,wherethefeetoobtainabirthcertificateis$12.Ms.Weinschenkhascerebralpalsy.Shetestifiedthat,althoughobtainingaproperphotoIDisasubstantialburdenbecauseofherdisability,sheisnot"unable"todoso.But,evencouldshetruthfullyswearthatherdisabilitypreventedherfromobtainingtheproperphotoIDneededtovote,becauseherdisabilitypreventsherfrommakingaconsistentsignaturemark,hersignaturewillnotmatchthesignatureonhervoterregistrationrecord.Thus,anyprovisionalballotshecastswillnotbecounted.Therecordalsocontainsevidenceregardingthesituationofotherplaintiffs.Mr.WilliamKottmeyerhaslimitedmobility,makingitdifficultforhimtogatherthenecessarydocumentstoobtainanonÊdriver'slicenseandtostandinlineattheDepartmentofRevenue.Mr.RobertPundhasaphysicalconditionthatrequireshimtoarrangetransportationtoandfromtheDepartmentofRevenueandtoemployanattendanttoassisthiminordertoobtainanonÊdriver'slicense.Ms.AmandaMullaneywasborninKentucky,andhercurrentnamedoesnotmatchthenameonherbirthcertificatebecauseherparentswerenotmarriedatthetimeofherbirth.Thus,toobtaintheproperphotoIDneededtovote,shewillhavetoprovideproofofhernamechangebymeansofeitheracertifiedcourtorderoracertifiedamendedbirthcertificate.Mr.RichardvonGlahnunsuccessfullyattemptedtoobtainanonÊdriver'slicenselastJuneandwastoldthat,sincehewasnotover65ÊyearsÊold,theIDwouldcosthim$11.Additionally,Mr.vonGlahnlackedabirthcertificate,forwhichthestateofhisbirth,Ohio,charges$20.Ms.MaudieMaeHugheswasborninMississippi,butthestatehasrepeatedlyinformedherthatitdoesnothaveanyrecordofherbirth,therebycompoundingherdifficultiesinobtainingthephotoIDnecessarytovoteinMissouri.Thetrialcourtfoundtheevidencepertainingtoeachoftheseplaintiffstobecredible.ItalsofoundcredibletestimonyfromfivestateandlocalMissourielectionofficialsregardingthenatureofvoterfraudcurrentlyexperiencedinMissouri.Thesegovernmentofficials,allofwhomhavebeencloselyinvolvedwithMissourielectionsintheirofficialcapacitiesandhavemanyyearsofexperience,(FN13)testifiedthatvoterimpersonationfraudisnotaprobleminMissouri.Forinstance,Ms.BetsyByers,theCoÊDirectorofElectionsfortheSecretaryofState'sOfficeforthelastfiveyears,testifiedthat,since2000,shehasnotreceivedanyreportsofvoterimpersonationfraudfromanywhereinthestate.Duringthatsameperiod,shereceivedreportsofabsenteeballotfraud,buttestifiedthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementdoesnotsolvesuchproblems.Addingtothetestimonyofthesegovernmentofficials,PlaintiffsalsopresentedexhibitsindicatingthatvoterimpersonationfraudisnotaprobleminMissouri.InalettertoGovernorMattBlunt,SecretaryofStateRobinCarnahanechoedthesentimentsofMs.Byers,statingthereisnoevidencethatvoterimpersonationfraudactuallyexistsorthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementwouldsolveanyexistingproblemsinourelectionssystem.Inaddition,therecordcontainstwoletterswrittenin2004bythenÊSecretaryofStateMattBluntonthesubjectofvoterfraud.HedescribedMissouri'sstatewideelectionsin2002and2004tothenÊGovernorBobHoldenas"twoofthecleanestandproblemfreeelectionsinrecenthistory."TotheSt.LouisPostÊDispatch,Bluntcharacterizedthesameelectionsas"fraudÊfree."WhileAppellantsofferedaffidavitsofpersonswhoreachedconclusionscontrarytosomeofthoseofferedbyPlaintiffs'witnesses,thetrialcourtfoundPlaintiffs'evidenceandwitnessestobemorecredible,andthisCourtconsiderstherecordinthelightmostfavorabletothejudgmentofthetrialcourt.Reddishv.HeartlandAutoPlaza,197S.W.3d634,636(Mo.App.S.D.2006).Thus,thisCourtturnstotheissuewhetherthePhotoÊIDRequirementofSB1014canwithstandconstitutionalscrutinydespitethecostandotherburdensthetrialcourtfounditplacedonqualifiedMissourivoters.Whethera



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #6scrutinydespitethecostandotherburdensthetrialcourtfounditplacedonqualifiedMissourivoters.Whetherastatuteisunconstitutionalisaquestionoflaw,thereviewofwhichisdenovo.Doev.Phillips,194S.W.3d833,841(Mo.banc2006).Becauseastatuteiscloakedinapresumptionofconstitutionality,anappellatecourtmayfindthestatuteunconstitutionalonlyifitclearlycontravenesaspecificconstitutionalprovision.Statev.Kinder,89S.W.3d454,459(Mo.banc2002)."Nonetheless,ifastatuteconflictswithaconstitutionalprovisionorprovisions,thisCourtmustholdthestatuteinvalid."Id.II.EQUALPROTECTIONANALYSISA.FrameworkforEvaluatinganEqualProtectionClauseChallenge.BoththeUnitedStatesandMissouriconstitutionsguaranteetotheircitizenstheenjoymentofequalprotectionofthelaws.U.S.Const.amend.XIV,sec.1("Nostateshall...denytoanypersonwithinitsjurisdictiontheequalprotectionofthelaws");Mo.Const.art.I,sec.2("allpersons...areentitledtoequalrightsandopportunityunderthelaw").CourtsundertakeatwoÊpartanalysistodeterminetheconstitutionalityofastatuteundereitherthestateorfederalequalprotectionclause.ThefirststepistodeterminewhetherthestatuteimplicatesasuspectclassorimpingesuponafundamentalrightexplicitlyorimplicitlyprotectedbytheConstitution.Etlingv.WestportHeating&CoolingSys.,Inc.,92S.W.3d771,744(Mo.banc2003);accordKadrmasv.DickinsonPublicSchools,487U.S.450,457ÿ58(1988)."Ifso,theclassificationissubjecttostrictscrutiny."Etling,92S.W.3dat774.Ifnot,theclassificationwillbesubjecttorationalbasisscrutiny.Id.Thesecondstepistoapplytheappropriatelevelofscrutinytothechallengedstatute.Inordertosurvivestrictscrutiny,alimitationonafundamentalrightmustservecompellingstateinterestsandmustbenarrowlytailoredtomeetthoseinterests.Komosav.Komosa,939S.W.2d479,482(Mo.App.E.D.1997)("Anystaterestrictionwhichsignificantlyinterfereswiththeexerciseofafundamentalrightissubjecttostrictscrutinyandcannotbeupheldunlessitissupportedbysufficientlyimportantstateinterestsandiscloselytailoredtoeffectuateonlythoseinterests.").SeealsoManifoldv.Blunt,863F.2d1368,1373(8thCir.1988)("Theapplicationofstrictscrutinyforpurposesofequalprotectionchallenges...involvesatwoÊpartanalysis:therestrictionmustbenecessarytoserveacompellingstateinterest,andmaynotgobeyondwhatthestate'sinterestactuallyrequires.").B.VotingisaFundamentalRight,ParticularlyundertheMissouriConstitution.TheMissouriConstitutionexpresslyguaranteesthat"allelectionsshallbefreeandopen;andnopower,civilormilitary,shallatanytimeinterferetopreventthefreeexerciseoftherightofsuffrage."Mo.Const.art.I,sec.25.Additionally,ratherthanleavingtheissueofvoterqualificationtothelegislature,theMissouriConstitutionhasestablishedanexclusivelistofqualificationsnecessarytovoteinMissouri.Mo.Const.art.VIII,sec.2("AllcitizensoftheUnitedStates...overtheageofeighteenwhoareresidentsofthisstateandofthepoliticalsubdivisioninwhichtheyoffertovoteareentitledtovoteatallelectionsbythepeople,if...theyareregisteredwithinthetimeprescribedbylaw").TheseconstitutionalprovisionsestablishwithunmistakableclaritythattherighttovoteisfundamentaltoMissouricitizens.(FN14)TheexpressconstitutionalprotectionoftherighttovotedifferentiatestheMissouriconstitutionfromitsfederalcounterpart.FederalcourtsalsohaveconsistentlyheldthattherighttovoteisequallyfundamentalundertheUnitedStatesConstitution.See,e.g.,Reynoldsv.Sims,377U.S.533,555(1964)("Therighttovotefreelyforthecandidateofone'schoiceisoftheessenceofademocraticsociety");Wesberryv.Sanders,376U.S.1,17ÿ18(1964)("Norightismorepreciousinafreecountrythanthatofhavingavoiceintheelectionofthosewhomakethelawsunderwhich,asgoodcitizens,wemustlive").But,therighttovoteinstateelectionsisconferredunderfederallawonlybyimplication,notbyexpressguarantee.SeeHarperv.VirginiaStateBd.Elections,383U.S.663,665(1966)("therighttovoteinstateelectionsisnowhereexpresslymentioned"intheUnitedStatesConstitution).Moreover,thequalificationsforvotingunderthefederalsystemarelefttolegislativedetermination,notconstitutionallyenshrined,astheyareinMissouri.CompareU.S.Const.art.I,sec.2(providingthat"Electors"shallbeequivalenttothoseforstatepositions)withMo.Const.art.VIII,sec.2(establishingexclusivequalificationsforvotinginMissouri).(FN15)ComparealsoU.S.Const.amend.XV(protectingrighttovotefromabridgment"onaccountofrace,colororpreviousconditionofservitude")withMo.Const.art.I,sec.25(protectingrighttovotefromall"power,civilormilitary"that"interferestopreventthefreeexerciseoftherightofsuffrage").DuetothemoreexpansiveandconcreteprotectionsoftherighttovoteundertheMissouriConstitution,votingrightsareanareawhereourstateconstitutionprovidesgreaterprotectionthanitsfederalcounterpart.SeeCaliforniav.Ramos,463U.S.992,1013ÿ14("ItiselementarythatStatesarefreetoprovidegreaterprotections...thanthe[f]ederalConstitutionrequires.");Statev.Rushing,935S.W.2d30,34(Mo.banc1996)("Provisionsofourstateconstitutionmaybeconstruedtoprovidemoreexpansiveprotectionsthancomparablefederalconstitutionalprovisions.");Stateexrel.J.D.S.v.Edwards,574S.W.2d405,409(Mo.banc1978)(holdingthatMissouriConstitutiondueprocessandequalprotectionclausesprovidemoreprotectionthanUnitedStatesConstitutionwhereUnitedStatesSupremeCourtprecedent"dilute[s]theseimportantrights").(FN16)Ofcourse,someregulationofthevotingprocessisnecessarytoprotecttherighttovoteitself.Suchregulationsareinplaceinallstateandfederalelections,andtheMissouriConstitutionfurtherspecificallydelegatestothelegislaturetherighttoregulateregistration.Mo.Const.art.VIII,sec.5.Inaddition,manymattersmaytangentiallyaffectvoting,suchasrulesregardingwhomayrunforofficeandhowcandidatesarelistedonballots.Forthisreason,theextentoftheburdenthisstatuteimposesontherighttovotemustbeevaluatedbeforedeterminingthelevelofscrutinyitwillreceive.C.SB1014'sPhotoEIDRequirementBurdensMissourians'FundamentalRighttoVote.



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #7Therecordsupportsthetrialcourt'sdeterminationthatSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementplacesaburdenontherightofMissourianstovote.Assetoutatlengthabove,itrequireseachoftheindividualplaintiffsinthiscasetopresentaMissouridriver'slicense,aMissourinonÊdriver'slicense,oraUnitedStatespassportonelectiondayinordertovote.Sec.115.427.1.Therecordrevealsthatbetween3and4percentofMissouricitizens(estimatesvaryfrom169,215to240,000individuals)lacktherequisitephotoID.Appellantsconcedethatmanyofthesecitizens,includingalloftheindividualplaintiffsinthiscase,areeligibletovoteand,inmanycases,arealreadyregisteredtovote.Nevertheless,underthenewlawtheseeligibleregisteredvoterswillnotbeabletocastaregularballot(orafter2008anyballotatall)unlesstheyundertaketoobtainoneoftherequisitephotoIDs.Thiswillconstituteadramaticincreaseinprovisionalballotsoverthepreviouslaw,asonly8,000provisionalballotswerecaststatewideinthe2004generalelection.(FN17)AsconcededbyAppellants,denialoftherighttovotetotheseMissouriansismorethanademinimisburdenontheirsuffrage.(FN18)ItistothesecitizensthattheCourtdirectsitsattention,asitdetermineswhetherthisstatuteplacesintojeopardytheirabilitytoexercisetheirfundamentalrighttovoteunderarticleI,section25oftheMissouriConstitution.Todoso,theCourtmustexaminetherequiredprocessesforthemtoobtainaphotoIDtodeterminetheextentoftheburdenitimposesontheirrighttovote.1.SB1014'sPhoto�IDRequirementrequirespaymentofmoneytoexercisetherighttovote.ThosecitizenswhodonotpossesstherequisitephotoID,withfewexceptions,mustexpendmoneytogatherthenecessarydocumentationtoobtainitinordertoexercisetheirrighttovote.AppellantsarguethatbecausethedocumentationÊrelatedexpensesareonestepremovedfromobtainingthephotoID,whichitselfis"free,"thoseexpensesshouldnotbeconsideredinthisCourt'sanalysis.ThefactthatMissourihaswaivedcollectionofcostsnormallychargedtopersonsseekinganonÊdriver'slicensedoesnotmakethatlicense"free"ifMissourianswithoutcertifiedcopiesofbirthcertificatesorpassportsmuststillexpendsumsofmoneytoobtainthelicense.ManyvoterswhopresentlylackoneoftherequiredphotoIDswouldhaveto,attheveryleast,expendmoneytoobtainabirthcertificate.InMissouri,obtainingabirthcertificaterequiresatleasta$15payment,which,Appellantsconcededatoralargument,isnotademinimiscost.Ifthecitizenrequiresdocumentationbeyondabirthcertificate,thecostsaregreater.AlthoughthisCourthasnotpreviouslyhadoccasiontoevaluatethevalidityofputtingadirectorindirectpriceorfeeonthefranchiseundertheMissouriConstitution,theUnitedStatesSupremeCourtheld,inthecontextofaddressinga$1.50polltax:"WealthorfeeÊpayinghas...norelationtovotingqualifications;therighttovoteistooprecious,toofundamentaltobesoburdened."Harper,383U.S.at670.Whilerequiringpaymenttoobtainabirthcertificateisnotapolltax,aswasthe$1.50inHarper,itisafeethatqualified,eligible,registeredvoterswholackanapprovedphotoIDarerequiredtopayinordertoexercisetheirrighttofreesuffrageundertheMissouriConstitution.(FN19)Harpermakesclearthatallfeesthatimposefinancialburdensoneligiblecitizens'righttovote,notmerelypolltaxes,areimpermissibleunderfederallaw.TherecanbenolesserrequirementunderMissourilaw.AppellantshighlightthatthefederalcourtsinIndianaandGeorgiaeachrejectedclaimsthatphotoIDrequirementsconstituteapolltax,seeCommonCause/Georgiav.Billups,439F.Supp.2d1294,1355(N.D.Ga.2006);Ind.DemocraticPartyv.Rokita,No.05ÿCVÿ0634ÿSEBÿVSS,2006WL1005037,at*38(S.D.Ind.Apr.14,2006),andurgethisCourttodolikewise.ThiscasestandsinstarkcontrasttotheGeorgiaandIndianacases,fortheirdecisionswerelargelybasedonthosecourts'findingsthatthepartieshadsimplypresentedtheoreticalargumentsandhadfailedtoofferspecificevidenceofvoterswhowererequiredtobearthesecostsinordertoexercisetheirrighttovote.(FN20)Plaintiffsinthiscase,ontheotherhand,offeredtestimonyofspecificMissourivoterswhowillhavetoincurthecostsassociatedwithbirthcertificatesandotherdocumentationtoacquireaphotoIDandvote.Specifically,PlaintiffWeinschenkwillhavetopay$12forherbirthcertificate;PlaintiffvonGlahn,whowasaskedtopay$11forhis"free"nonÊdriver'slicenserequiredtovoteunderthestatute,willhavetopayanother$20forhisbirthcertificate.Others,likePlaintiffMullaney,mayhavetoincurmoresubstantialcostsforadditionaldocumentationbecausetheirnameshavechangedsincetheirbirth.Additionally,electionsofficialstestifiedtothesubstantialnumberofotherotherwisequalifiedMissourivoterswhoalsomustpayafeeinordertovote.Basedonthisevidence,thetrialcourtfoundthatthiscostwasdirectlyconnectedtoPlaintiffs'exerciseoftherighttovote.ThetrialcourtalsofoundthatthecitizenswhocurrentlylacktherequisitephotoIDaregenerally"theleastequippedtobearthecosts."ForMissourianswholivebeneaththepovertyline,the$15theymustpayinordertoobtaintheirbirthcertificatesandvoteis$15thattheymustsubtractfromtheirmeagerabilitytofeed,shelter,andclothetheirfamilies.Theexerciseoffundamentalrightscannotbeconditioneduponfinancialexpense.Cf.Griffinv.Illinois,351U.S.12,16ÿ19(1956)(holdingthatdueprocessandequalprotectionrequirethatindigentdefendantsareentitledtopursueappealswithoutpaymentofcosts).Inthiscase,PlaintiffsprovedthatthesecostsmustbeincurredforcitizenswholacktheSB1014mandatedphotoIDstoexercisetheirrighttovote.2.SB1014'sPhoto�IDRequirementrequirestimeandabilitytonavigatebureaucraciesinordertovote.PersonswhowishtovotewhodonotalreadyhavetherequisitephotoIDsmustarrangetoobtainthembypresentingabirthcertificateorpassportand,ifnecessary,proofofnamechanges.TodosorequiresbothfundsandadvanceplanningtoallowforthesixtoeightweeksthattherecordshowsittakestoobtainaMissouribirthcertificate(whichismoretimethanexistsbetweenthedateofthisdecisionandthenextgeneralelection).Oncethebirthcertificateisinhand,thevotermustuseittoobtainoneoftherequisitephotoIDs."Thisisplainlya



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #8thebirthcertificateisinhand,thevotermustuseittoobtainoneoftherequisitephotoIDs."Thisisplainlyacumbersomeprocedure."Harmanv.Forssenius,380U.S.528,541(1965)(holdingthatsixÊmonthadvanceregistrationtoavoidpolltaxundulyburdenedtherighttovote).Thosethingsthatrequiresubstantialplanninginadvanceofanelectiontopreservetherighttovotecantendto"eliminatefromthefranchiseasubstantialnumberofvoterswhodidnotplansofarahead."Id.at539ÿ40.(FN21)EvaluatingasimilarproceduremandatedbytheGeorgiaphotoIDlaw(whichwasfoundtoviolatethefederalconstitution),aGeorgiafederaldistrictcourtconcludedthat"manyvoterswhoareelderly,disabled,orhavecertainphysicalormentalproblemssimplycannotnavigatethatprocessoranylongwaitssuccessfully."CommonCause/Georgia,439F.Supp.2dat1347.Asitwillrequirepaymentofmoneyandsignificantadvanceplanningtoobtainnecessarydocumentation,thePhotoÊIDRequirementisan"onerousproceduralrequirementwhicheffectivelyhandicap[s]exerciseofthefranchise."Lanev.Wilson,307U.S.268,275(1939).(FN22)Itisundisputedthatbetween3and4percentofthepopulation,some169,000to240,000Missourians,andeachoftheindividualplaintiffshere,currentlydonotpossessthetypeofphotoIDrequiredbySB1014toobtainaregularballottovote.ThisCourtagreeswiththetrialcourtthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementofSB1014representsaheavyandsubstantialburdenonMissourians'freeexerciseoftherightofsuffrage.D.SB1014'sPhotoEIDRequirementisSubjecttoStrictScrutiny.InlightofthesubstantialburdenthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementplacesupontherighttovote,thestatuteissubjecttostrictscrutiny.ThisisconsistentwiththepastdecisionsofMissouricourts,whichhaveuniformlyappliedstrictscrutinytostatutesimpingingupontherighttovote.(FN23)MissourielectionÊlawcasesinwhichstrictscrutinywasnotappliedsimplyrecognize,asdoesthisCourttoday,thatreasonableregulationofthevotingprocessandofregistrationproceduresisnecessarytoprotecttherighttovote.(FN24)Solongasthoseregulationsdonotimposeaheavyburdenontherighttovote,theywillbeupheldprovidedtheyarerationallyrelatedtoalegitimatestateinterest.Iftheregulationsplaceaheavyburdenontherighttovote,ashere,ourconstitutionrequiresthattheybesubjecttostrictscrutiny.Appellants'argumentthatthisCourtshouldnotapplystrictscrutinybutshouldapplya"flexible"testforexaminingvotingrestrictionssuchasthatannouncedbytheUnitedStatesSupremeCourtinBurdickv.Takushi,504U.S.428(1992),alsoisnotpersuasive.Here,theissueisconstitutionalityunderMissouri'sConstitution,notundertheUnitedStatesConstitution.EvenunderBurdick's"flexible"test,however,acourtwill"weighthecharacterandmagnitudeoftheassertedinjurytotherightsprotected...againstthepreciseinterestsputforwardbytheStateasjustificationsfortheburdenimposedbyitsrule,takingintoconsiderationtheextenttowhichthoseinterestsmakeitnecessarytoburdentheplaintiff'srights."Id.at434.Whenthoserightsaresubjectto"reasonablenondiscriminatoryrestrictions,"rationalbasisscrutinyapplies.Id.Whenthoserightsaresubjectto"severerestrictions,"theSupremeCourthasdirectedthatstrictscrutinyapplies.Id.Because,here,therestrictionsontherighttovotearesevere,strictscrutinywouldalsoadhereunderthefederalconstitutionalprovision.SeveralfederalcourtsthathaveevaluatedthesetypesofburdensontherighttovotesinceBurdickareinaccordthatstrictscrutinymustapplytodirectburdensontherighttovote.SeeRepublicanPartyofArkansasv.FaulknerCounty,Arkansas,49F.3d1289,1298ÿ99(8thCir.1995)(applyingstrictscrutinytoArkansasrequirementthatpoliticalpartiesconductandpayforprimaryelectionsbecausesuchprovisionshadtheeffectofforcing"manyvoterswhowish[ed]tovoteintheRepublicanprimarytovoteeitherintheDemocraticprimaryornotatall,"therebyburdening"theabilityofpersonstoexercisetheirrighttovoteforthepersonorpersonsoftheirchoice.").(FN25)Applyingstrictscrutiny,theissuesarewhethertheburdenthatSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementplacesuponMissourians'fundamentalrighttovoteservesacompellingstateinterestandwhetheritisnecessaryandnarrowlytailoredtoaccomplishthatinterest.Komosa,939S.W.2dat482.E.MissourihasaCompellingInterestinCombatingElectionFraudMissouri'sbroadinterestsinpreservingtheintegrityoftheelectionprocessandcombatingvoterfraudaresignificant,compellingandimportant.F.SB1014'sPhotoEIDRequirementisNotNecessaryorNarrowlyTailoredtoMeetingtheState'sCompellingInterestinPreventingImpersonationFraudatthePollingPlace.RecognizingthattheStatedoeshavecompellinginterestsinpreservingelectoralintegrityandcombatingvoterfraud,theissuebecomeswhethertherecordshowsthatthetypeofPhotoÊIDRequirementenactedinSB1014"isnecessarytoaccomplishacompellingstateinterest."Etling,92S.W.3dat774.Because,forthereasonssetoutabove,thisCourthasfoundthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementimposesasevereburdenontherighttovote,itcansurvivestrictscrutinyonlybyshowingitisnecessarytoaccomplishacompellingstateinterestorthatitis"narrowlydrawntoexpressthecompellingstateinterestatstake."InreNorton,123S.W.3dat173.Yet,AppellantsdonotdemonstratethatSB1014'srequirementofstateorfederallyissued,nonÊexpiredphotoIDsisstrictlynecessaryornarrowlytailoredtoaccomplishtheState'sassertedinterests.Tothecontrary,AppellantsconcedethattheonlytypeofvoterfraudthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementpreventsisinÊpersonvoterimpersonationfraudatthepollingplace.Itdoesnotaddressabsenteevotingfraudorfraudinregistration.WhilethePhotoÊIDRequirementmayprovidesomeadditionalprotectionagainstvoterimpersonationfraud,theevidencebelowdemonstratesthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementisnot"necessary"toaccomplishthisgoal.Asthetrialcourtfound:"NoevidencewaspresentedthatvoterimpersonationfraudexiststoanysubstantialdegreeinMissouri.Infact,theevidencethatwaspresentedindicatesthatvoterimpersonationfraudisnotaprobleminMissouri."



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #9theevidencethatwaspresentedindicatesthatvoterimpersonationfraudisnotaprobleminMissouri."(FN26)TheonlyevidencethatAppellantsmarshalofvoterimpersonationfraudoccurredpriortotheenactmentofidentificationrequirementsin2002.The2002identificationlaw,enactedinresponsetothefederalHAVAlaw,requiredvoterstopresentsomeproofofidentityorresidencewhentheyarrivedatthepollingplace.Thelistofacceptableidentificationunderthe2002requirementsismuchbroaderthanthethreetypesofphotoIDthatSB1014allowsandincludedautilitybill,bankstatement,expiredpassport,outÊofÊstatedriver'slicense,andothercommonlyavailabledocumentsofidentification.Sec.115.427,RSMoSupp.2005.AlthoughAppellantsprotestthatsomeoftheapprovedidentificationdocumentsunderthe2002lawdonotprovideproofofeligibilitytovote,neitherdoesthePhotoÊIDRequirement.ThePhotoÊIDRequirementassistsinpreventionofvoterimpersonation,buttheevidencerevealsthatthe2002requirements,whicharemuchlessrestrictiveontherighttovote,havebeensufficienttopreventthistypeoffraud.ThesefactscompeltheconclusionthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementisnot"necessarytoaccomplishacompellingstateinterest."TheconclusionthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementisnotnecessarytoservetheState'sassertedendshouldnotbetakenasanindicationthattheState'sinterestincombatingvoterfraudisinsubstantial.Indeed,legislativeeffortstocombatthetypesofvoterfraudandopportunitiesforvoterfraudthatpersistinMissouri,suchasabsenteeballotfraud,voterintimidation,andinflatedvoterregistrationrolls,shouldbeencouraged.Wherethelegislatureplacesaheavyburdenontherighttovote,however,theMissouriConstitutionrequiresthattheburdenbejustifiedbyacompellinginterestandthestatutebenarrowlytailoredornecessarytoaccomplishthestatutorygoals.ThePhotoÊIDRequirementcouldonlypreventaparticulartypeofvoterfraudthattherecorddoesnotshowisoccurringinMissouri,yetitwouldplaceaheavyburdenonthefreeexerciseofthefranchiseformanycitizensofthisState.(FN27)AppellantsalsourgethattheStatehasacompellinginterestincombatingperceptionsofvoterfraud.WhiletheStatedoeshaveaninterestincombatingthoseperceptions,wherethefundamentalrightsofMissouricitizensareatstake,morethanmereperceptionisrequiredfortheirabridgement.(FN28)Perceptionsaremalleable.WhileitisagreedherethattheState'sconcernabouttheperceptionoffraudisreal,ifthisCourtweretoapprovetheplacementofsevererestrictionsonMissourians'fundamentalrightsowingtothemereperceptionofaprobleminthisinstance,thenthetacticofshapingpublicmisperceptioncouldbeusedinthefutureasamechanismforfurtherburdeningtherighttovoteorotherfundamentalrights.Moreover,thepubliccouldbelievethatthenewlawhaspreventedfraudinMissourielections,whereasthetypeoffraudthathasbeenshowntoexist–fraudinregistrationandinabsenteeballots–isnotaddressedbythePhotoÊIDRequirementandmaystillneedresolution.SeeJoMannies,SuspectVoterCardsFound,St.LouisPostÿDispatch,Oct.11,2006,atA1.Theprotectionofourmostpreciousstateconstitutionalrightsmustnotfounderinthetumultuoustidesofpublicmisperception.Forthesereasons,thisCourtholdsthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementviolatestheequalprotectionclauseoftheMissouriConstitution,articleI,section2.III.SEVERABILITYRecognizingthatitwilltaketimeformanyMissourivoterstoobtainthephotoIDrequiredunderSB1014,thelegislatureenactedatransitionalprovisionthatallowsvoterswholacktherequisitephotoIDtocastaprovisionalballotincertainelectionsbetweennowandNovember2008.(FN29)Duringthistransitionalperiod,anotherwisequalifiedvoterwholackstherequisitephotoIDcancastaprovisionalballotafterpresentingoneofthemanyformsofidentificationthatcouldbepresentedunderthepreviousversionofsection115.427.Sec.115.247.13.AswiththeprovisionalballotscastundertheexceptiontothePhotoÊIDRequirementdiscussedinSectionIabove,foratransitionalÊperiodprovisionalballottobecounted,thesignatureontheaffidavitmustmatchthesignatureonfilewiththeelectionauthority,howeverlongagothesignatureonfilewasmadeandwithoutregardtoanydisabilityorinfirmityofthevoter.Id.ThisCourtrejectsAppellants'argumentthat,evenifconstitutionalinfirmitiesexistastothepermanentprovisionsofthePhotoÊIDRequirement,thetransitionalprovisionsareseverablefromthepermanentprovisionsandcouldgointoeffectdespitetheinvalidityofthepermanentprovisions.Whilethereisapresumptionthat"[t]heprovisionsofeverystatuteareseverable,"Sec.1.140,RSMo2000,ifanyprovisionofastatuteisfoundunconstitutional,theremainingprovisionscannotstandiftheyare"soessentiallyandinseparablyconnectedwith,andsodependentupon,thevoidprovisionthatitcannotbepresumedthelegislaturewouldhaveenactedthevalidprovisionswithoutthevoidone."Id.Inotherwords,"[t]hetestoftherighttoupholdalaw,someportionsofwhichmaybeinvalid,iswhetherornotinsodoing,afterseparatingthatwhichisinvalid,alawinallrespectscompleteandsusceptibleofconstitutionalenforcementisleft,whichtheLegislaturewouldhaveenactedifithadknownthattheexscindedportionswereinvalid."Stateexrel.AudrainCountyv.Hackmann,205S.W.12,14(Mo.banc1918)(emphasisadded);accordCityofSpringfieldv.SprintSpectrum,L.P.,ÿÿÿS.W.3dÿÿÿÿ,(Mo.banc2006),2006WL2257073,*8.ThetransitionalprovisionofSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementisjustthat:transitional.AfterNovember2008,MissourivoterswholacktherequisitephotoIDwillnolongerbeabletovote,byprovisionalballotorotherwiseunlesstheyfallwithinthelimitedclassofvotersallowedtocastaprovisionalballotundersection115.427.3'sexceptiontothePhotoÊIDRequirementdiscussedinSectionIabove.NothinginSB1014suggeststhatthelegislaturewouldhaveenactedthetransitionalprovisionswithoutthepermanentprovisions.Thetransitionalprovisionsareenactedaspartofthesamesection,115.427,asthepermanentprovisionsandprovideonlyatemporaryexceptiontotheotherwisevalidandcurrentlyenforceablePhotoÊIDRequirement.NothinginthissectionsuggeststhatthelegislaturewouldhaveenactedonlythistransitionalprovisionifitbelievedthelawwouldsimplyreverttothepreviousstatuteafterthetransitionendedinNovember2008.Atransitionisinherently



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #10wouldsimplyreverttothepreviousstatuteafterthetransitionendedinNovember2008.Atransitionisinherentlyasteptowardsanend,notanendinitself.Sincethetransitionalprovisionsare"soessentiallyandinseparablyconnectedwith,andsodependentupon"thepermanentprovisions,Sec.1.140,RSMo2000,thesetransitionalprovisionscannotbesevered.WhilethelegislaturemayremedytheconstitutionalproblemsthatassailSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirement,theCourtcannotspeculateastothetermsofsomenewstatuteasyetnotenacted.PartlyinresponsetoAppellants'contentionthattheinterimprovisionsofsection115.427areseverablefromtheremainderofthatsection,PlaintiffsmaketheadditionalargumentthatSB1014allowsprovisionalvoting(boththetypeallowedunderthetransitionalprovisionsandthetypeallowedundersection115.427.3'sexceptiontothePhotoÊIDRequirementdiscussedabove)onlyatfederalelectionsandinprimaries.Ifthisisthecase,itwouldpresentanadditionalandseriousconstitutionalproblem.WhenprovisionalballotingwasfirstinstitutedinMissouriin2002,itwaspermittedonlyforprimaryandgeneralelectionsinwhichcandidatesforfederalorstatewideofficeswerenominatedorelectedandforanyelectioninwhichstatewideissuesweresubmittedtothevoters.Seesec.115.430.1,RSMoSupp.2005.Theproceduresforcountingsuchballotsweresetoutinsection115.430.Id.TheprovisionalvotingpermissibleunderSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementstatesthatsuchprovisionalballots"shallbeentitledtobecounted,providedtheelectionauthorityverifiestheidentityoftheindividualbycomparingthatindividual'ssignaturetothesignatureonfilewiththeelectionauthorityanddeterminesthattheindividualwasotherwiseeligibletocastaballotatthepollingplacewheretheballotwascast."Sec.115.427.13;accordSec.115.427.3.Theonlystatutorymethodofdeterminingeligibilityofthosewhocastsuchprovisionalballotsispursuanttosection115.430.But,whetherintentionallyorthroughoversight,thelegislaturechosenottoamendordeletesubsection115.430.1,whichstillprovidesthatdeterminingeligibilityandcountingprovisionalballotsmaybemadeunderthatsectiononlyinprimariesandstatewideorfederalelections.Theresultisthateitherthereisnoprovisionalvotinginlocalelectionswhenthetwoprovisionsarereadinparimateriaorelsethereisprovisionalballotinginsuchelections,butthestatutesprovidenomeansofdeterminingtheeligibilityofthoseprovisionalvotersandnosafeguardsforcollectingandcountingthosevotes,whichwoulditselfpresentseriousconstitutionalproblems.Thedissentsuggestsathirdapproach:thatthe"internalinconsistency"insection115.430shouldbeharmonizedbyreadingthereferencetosection115.427in115.430.2toexpandthescopeof115.430toencompass"anyelection."Thisinterpretationwouldreadsection115.430.1outofthestatutecompletely,whichthisCourtisnotpermittedtodo.KearneySpecialRoadDist.v.CountyofClay,863S.W.2d841,842(Mo.banc1993)("Wherelanguageofastatuteisclear,courtsmustgiveeffecttothelanguageaswritten.Courtsarewithoutauthoritytoreadintoastatutealegislativeintentcontrarytotheintentmadeevidentbytheplainlanguage.")(citationsomitted).Inanyevent,sincesection115.427isstrickenonothergrounds,thisCourtneednotconclusivelyresolvetheissueregardinghowtointerprettheseincongruousprovisionsandleavesittothelegislaturetoclarifythem.Thus,withoutdecidingtheissueofwhethertheinterimprovisionalballots(orthoseprovisionalballotsavailableundersection115.427.3'sexceptiontothePhotoÊIDRequirement)areavailableonlyforfederalorstatewideelectionsandprimaries,theCourtholdsthatthetransitionalprovisionsofsection115.427.13mustbestruckdowntogetherwiththepermanentprovisionsofSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementbecausetheformerisnotseverablefromthelatter.IV.RIPENESSThedissentcharacterizesthisCourt'sholdingthatthestatute'sPhotoÊIDRequirement,whichcurrentlygovernsallelectionsinMissouri,isunconstitutionalas"astraightforwardviolationoftheripenessdoctrine."Notso.First,thedissent'sanalysisdependsupontheseverabilityofthetransitionalprovisions.AsthisCourtdeterminesthatthetransitionalprovisionsarenotseverablefromthepermanentprovisions,itneednot(anddoesnot)reachthequestionoftheconstitutionalityofthetransitionalprovisions.Second,evenwerethetransitionalprovisionsseverable,anevaluationoftheconstitutionalityofthepermanentprovisionswouldberipe.Toberipeforjudicialdetermination,acontroversymustbe"ofsufficientimmediacyandrealitytowarranttheissuanceofadeclaratoryjudgment."MissouriHealthCareAss'nv.AttorneyGeneraloftheStateofMo.,953S.W.2d617,620(Mo.banc1997)."[C]onstitutionalchallengestolaws[are]ripewhenthefactsnecessarytoadjudicatetheunderlyingclaimswerefullydevelopedandthelawsatissuewereaffectingtheplaintiffsinamannerthatgaverisetoanimmediate,concretedispute."Id.ThePhotoÊIDRequirementunmistakablymeetsthisstandard.IfthePhotoÊIDRequirementisvalidandenforceable,Missourivotersmusttakeactionandincurcostsnow,oratleastbeforethetransitionalperiodendsinNovember2008,inordertosecuretheirabilitytovoteinthefuture.ThetransitionalprovisionscentraltothedissentmerelyprovideatemporaryalternativetothecostlyandburdensomeprocedurerequiredunderthepermanentprovisionstoobtainanapprovedphotoID.Consequently,thedisputeregardingtheconstitutionalityofthePhotoÊIDRequirementisimmediateandconcrete.Furthermore,thetypesofphotoIDonemustobtain,theproceduresonemustfollowtoobtainthem,andthecostofanyrequiredsupportingdocumentationwereprovedwithsufficientcertaintytothetrialcourt.Theonly"fact"thatthedissentpositsisnotfullydevelopediswhetherthelegislaturewilltakeanyfutureactionthatcouldpossiblybringthestatuteintocompliancewithMissouri'sconstitutionalcommands.Thisisnofactatall,andcertainlynobarriertothisCourt'sdeterminationoftheconstitutionalityofthisstatute,whichispresentlyineffect.WhilethisCourtsharesthehopethatthelegislaturewillbeabletorectifytheproblemsidentifiedhereandpassaconstitutionallawthatislessburdensomeontherighttovote,theversionofsection115.427nowineffectisthe



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #11constitutionallawthatislessburdensomeontherighttovote,theversionofsection115.427nowineffectistheonlyoneripeforjudicialconsideration.V.CONCLUSIONTheMissouriConstitutionprovidesaspecificprovisionthatenshrinestherighttovoteamongcertainenumeratedconstitutionalrightsofitscitizens.Mo.Const.art.I,sec.25.SB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementcreatesaheavyburdenontherighttovoteandisnotnarrowlytailoredtomeetacompellingstateinterest,soitfallsafouloftheMissouriConstitution'sequalprotectionclause,Mo.Const.artI.,sec.2,andofMissourians'specificconstitutionalprotectionoftherighttovote.Mo.Const.art.I,sec.25.Forthesereasons,thetrialcourtjudgmentisaffirmed.Footnotes:FN1.PlaintiffsfiledapetitionagainsttheStateofMissouriandSecretaryofStateRobinCarnahan(whoappearsonappealasaRespondent)seekingadeclaratoryjudgmentthatSB1014wasunconstitutional.DaleMorrisandSenatorDelbertScottweregrantedpermissiontointervene.TheCourtcomplimentsallcounselandthetrialcourtfortheirexcellentanalysesofthecomplexlegalissuesherepresentedintheshorttimeavailabletothem.FN2.Unlessotherwisenoted,referencestosection115.427areto2006Mo.Laws728ÿ32.FN3.Codifiedatsec.115.427,RSMoSupp.2005.FN4.Section115.427wasamendedin2002toaddarequirementthat"votersshallidentifythemselvesbypresentingaformofpersonalidentification"fromthelistenumeratedinthestatute.Sec.115.427.1,RSMoSupp.2005.Priortothisamendment,statelawdidnotgenerallyrequireMissourivoterstopresentanyidentificationinordertovote.The2002amendmentbroughtMissouriintocompliancewiththeHelpAmericaVoteAct("HAVA"),passedbyCongressin2002.ThelistofacceptableformsofidentificationincludedinMissouri'spreÊ2006statutesaredrawndirectlyfromHAVA.SeeHelpAmericaVoteAct,Pub.L.No.107ÿ252,116Stat.1666.FN5.SB1014alsocontainstransitionalprovisionsthatwouldallowvoterswholacktherequisitephotoIDtocastprovisionalballotsthroughNovember1,2008.Sec.115.427.13.Thetransitionalprovisions,discussedinthedissent,willbeaddressedinsectionIIIbelow.FN6.UnderSB1014,armedforcesphotoIDs,otherUnitedStatesÊissuedphotoIDs,andotherunspecifiedMissouriÊissuedphotoIDswouldalsosufficetopermitthevotertoobtainaballot.Sec.115.427.1(3)&(4).AsthosetypesofIDsareneithergenerallyavailabletothevotingpublicnorspecificallyavailabletotheindividualplaintiffsinthiscase,theCourt'sanalysiswillbelimitedtothethreetypesofphotoIDsthataregenerallyavailabletoall.FN7.Simplybeingdisabled,havingasincerelyheldreligiousbelief,orbeingbornbefore1941alsoisnotenoughtoenableaqualifiedvoterlackingappropriatephotoIDtocastaprovisionalballot.Sec.115.427.4.PlaintiffWeinschenktestifiedbelowthatforthesereasonsshecouldnothonestlyswearthatbecauseofoneofthesecircumstances,sheisunabletoobtaintherequisitephotoID,althoughtogetonewouldbeaseriousburden.Swearingfalselythatdisability,religionorageisthereasonforthelackofIDisacriminaloffense.Sec.115.427.4("knowinglyprovidingfalseinformationisaviolationoflawandsubjects[voters]topossiblecriminalprosecution").FN8.Section115.427.12,whichthedissentsuggeststhemajoritymisconstrues,byitsterms,onlyregulatesthesignatureormarkthatmustbemadeontheprecinctregisterwhenthevoterappearsatthepollingplacetovote.Anadditionalsignatureormarkmustbemadeontheprovisionalballotthatiscasteitherpursuanttosection115.427.3orsection115.427.13.Inorderfortheprovisionalballottobecounted,itisthatsecondsignatureormarkthatmustbeverified"bycomparingthatindividual'ssignaturetothesignatureonfilewiththeelectionauthority."Sec.115.427.3;sec.115.427.13.Theopportunitytomakeamarkinlieuofasignature,eitherontheprecinctregisterorontheprovisionalballot,makesnodifferencetothosevoterslikePlaintiffWeinschenk,whousesamarkinlieuofasignature"butit'sneverthesame."Underthisstatute,theyareneverentitledtocastaregularballotandtheirprovisionalballots,duetothesignaturematchrequirement,canneverbecounted.InlightofthisCourt'sholdingonthePhotoÊIDRequirement,itneednotseparatelyevaluatetheconstitutionalityofthesignaturematchrequirement.ThisCourtisconfidentthelegislaturecanfindthemeanstoaddresstheproblemthisrequirementpresentsforMissouri'sdisabledandagedcitizens.FN9.PlaintiffsarguedinthetrialcourtthatSB1014violatestheMissouriConstitutioninthatthePhotoÊIDRequirement(1)impermissiblyaddsadditionalqualificationtovoteinviolationofarticleVIII,section2;(2)interfereswithfreeexerciseoftherighttovoteinviolationofarticleI,section25;(3)violatesMissouri'sdueprocessandequalprotectionclausesbyrequiringthepaymentofmoneytovoteandbyimposinganundueburdenonthefundamentalrighttovotethatisnotnarrowlytailoredtomeetacompellingstateinterest;and(4)violatestheequalprotectionclausebyhavingadisparateimpactonregisteredvotersinsuspectclassesandbyimproperlydiscriminatingbetweeninÊpersonvotersandabsenteevoters.



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #12FN10.Plaintiffsalsoalleged,andthetrialcourtfound,thatthecostofprovidingprovisionalballotsandothercoststhatmunicipalitieswererequiredtofundunderSB1014,imposesnewmandatesonlocalgovernmentswithoutappropriatingstatefundstocovertheincreasedcostsinviolationoftheHancockAmendment,articleX,section21.ThetrialcourtnonethelessenteredjudgmentonthisissueinfavorofDefendantsbecauseitwasunclearwhetheritcouldgrantstatewidereliefonthisground.DefendantÊAppellantsare,thus,notaggrievedbythetrialcourt'sdictaonthisissue,andPlaintiffshavenotappealedit.Therefore,thisCourtdoesnotfurtheraddresstheHancockissue.FN11.Moreover,itisdifficult,thoughnotimpossible,toobtainaUnitedStatespassportwithoutabirthcertificate,yetmanyMissourians,particularlythosebornathome,donothavebirthcertificates.Intheabsenceofabirthcertificate,toobtainaUnitedStatespassport,votersmustprovidetheDepartmentofStatewith:(1)a"LetterofNoRecord"fromthestateoftheirbirthindicatingthatthestatehassearchedandhasnorecordoftheirbirth;and(2)asmanypublicrecordsastheycanmusterfromthefirstfiveyearsoftheirlifeshowingtheirdateandplaceofbirth(e.g.,baptismal,hospital,school,censusrecords);and/or(3)anotarizedaffidavitofbirthfromanolderbloodrelativewithpersonalknowledgeoftheirbirth.FN12.Unlikethebirthcertificateandpassportrequirements,whichwouldonlyimpactthosevoterswhodonotcurrentlyhavevalidphotoID,thenamechangeburdenscouldalsoaffectthosevoterswhohaveoneoftheSB1014ÊapprovedformsofID,butwhosenameshavechangedbetweenthetimetheIDwasissuedandthetimetheyregistertovote.UnderSB1014,ifavalidphotoIDdoesnotmatchavoter'sregisteredname,thevotermustobtainanewphotoIDinordertovoteand,therefore,undertaketheadditionalstepsnecessarytoprovideproofofnamechange.FN13.Mr.CarolSignaigowastheAssistantDirectorofElectionsfortheCityofSt.Louisfortwelveyearsand,forthepastsevenyears,hasservedasaconsultanttotheSt.LouisCityElectionBoard.Ms.WendyNoren,nowaBooneCountyClerk,servedforfifteenyearsonthelegislativecommitteefortheAssociationofMissouriStateCountyClerksandElectionAuthorities.Mr.RobertNicholshasbeentheDemocraticDirectorofElectionsforJacksonCountyBoardofElectionCommissionersforalittleovertwentyyears.Ms.JudyTaylorhasbeentheDemocraticDirectorofElectionsforSt.LouisCountyforeightyears.Ms.BetsyByerswasDeputySecretaryofStateforElectionsfortwoyearsandforthelastfiveyearshasservedasCoÊDirectorofElectionsfortheSecretaryofState'sOffice.FN14.See,e.g.,UnitedC.O.D.v.State,150S.W.3d311,313(Mo.banc2004);Etling,92S.W.3dat774;Blaskev.Smith&Entozeroth,Inc.,821S.W.2d822,829(Mo.banc1991);MullenixÿSt.CharlesProperties,L.P.v.CityofSt.Charles,983S.W.2d550,559(Mo.App.E.D.1998)(allrecognizingthatrighttovoteisfundamentalinMissouri).FN15.ThetrialcourtfoundthatthePhotoÊIDRequirementamountedtoanunconstitutionaladditionalqualificationforvotinginviolationofarticleVIII,section2oftheMissouriConstitution.Appellantsarguethatitisnotaqualificationbutnecessarilyagreethatitisanadditionalshowingthatmustbemadeinordertovote.Becauseitisnotnecessarytodeterminewhetherthisrequirementconstitutesanadditional"qualification,"thisCourtdoesnotfinallyresolvetheissue.FN16.SeealsoStateexrel.Amrinev.Roper,102S.W.3d541(Mo.banc2003)(holdingthatMissourihabeascorpusrightsarebroaderthanfederalhabeascorpus);Statev.Whitfield,107S.W.3d253,267(Mo.banc2003)(providingstandardforretroactiveapplicationofconstitutionaldecisionsinMissourithatdiffersfromfederalstandard);Statev.Parker,836S.W.2d930,942(Mo.banc1992)(notingthattheMissouriConstitutionprovidesmorespecificrightstojuryservicethanthefederalconstitutionsothe"MissouriConstitutionmayrequiregreaterprotectionoftheright")(Price,J.,concurring);cf.Doe,194S.W.3dat849(construingMissouri'sconstitutionalproscriptiononretrospectivelawsseparatelywherethereisnofederalanalogue).FN17.Oftheseballots,only3,000werecounted.FN18.Theoutcomeofinnumerablepastracescouldhavebeenaffectedbythevotesof3or4percentofMissourians.FN19.IntheIndianacaseuponwhichtheStaterelies,thestatuteallowedindigentcitizenswhocouldnotobtainfreeproofofidentitytovote.SeeInd.DemocraticPartyv.Rokita,No.05ÿCVÿ0634ÿSEBÿVSS,2006WL1005037,at*5(S.D.Ind.Apr.14,2006);seealsoInd.CodeSect.3ÿ11.7ÿ5ÿ1.TheMissouristatuteoffersnosuchindigencyexception.FN20.SeeInd.DemocraticParty,2006WL1005037,at*38(plaintiffs"providednoevidencetodemonstratethatanyonewillactuallyberequiredtoincurthiscosttovote");CommonCause/Georgiav.Billups,439F.Supp.2d1294,1355(N.D.Ga.2006)(plaintiffs"failedtoshowthatanyparticularvoterwouldactuallyberequiredtoincurthatcostinordertovote").



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #13FN21.Indeed,oneofthemotivatingpurposesoftheTwentyÊfourthAmendmenttotheUnitedStatesConstitution(whichprohibitspolltaxesinfederalelections)wasthatpaymentofpolltaxeswasoftenrequiredfarinadvanceofanelection,sothelengthyadvanceplanningresultedinanundueburdenonthefranchise.Harmanv.Forssenius,380U.S.528,539ÿ40(1965).FN22.Lanev.WilsoninterpretstheFifteenthAmendmenttotheUnitedStatesConstitution,whichspecificallyprotectstherighttovotefromabridgementonthebasisof"race,colororpreviousconditionofservitude."ArticleI,section25oftheMissouriConstitutionaffordsgreaterprotectiontotherighttovoteinMissourithantheFifteenthAmendment,sotheMissouriConstitutionmustofferatleastasmuchprotectiontoourcitizensasdoestheFifteenthAmendment.FN23.See,e.g.UnitedC.O.D.,150S.W.3dat313;Etling,92S.W.3dat774;Blaske,821S.W.2dat829;MullenixÿSt.CharlesProperties,L.P.,983S.W.2dat559.Whilenoneofthesecasesinvolvesviolationsofthefundamentalrighttovote,eachnotesthatvotingisafundamentalright,restrictionsonwhichmustsurvivestrictscrutiny.FN24.SeeStateexrel.McClellanv.Kirkpatrick,504S.W.2d83(Mo.banc1974);Tottonv.Murdock,482S.W.2d65(Mo.banc1972);Stateexrel.Dunnv.Coburn,168S.W.956(Mo.1914);Stateexrel.Kirkpatrickv.Bd.ofElectionComm'n,686S.W.2d888(Mo.App.W.D.1985);Stateexrel.Bushmeyerv.Cahill,575S.W.2d229(Mo.App.E.D.1978).FN25.SeealsoGreidingerv.Davis,988F.2d1344,1354(4thCir.1993)(applyingstrictscrutinytoVirginia'svoterregistrationschemebecauseconditioningavoter'srighttovoteonthepublicdisclosureofthevoter'ssocialsecuritynumberisasevereburden);CommonCause/Georgia,439F.Supp.2dat1345ÿ51(applyingstrictscrutinytoGeorgia'sphotoÊIDrequirementsbecausetheunlikelihoodthatmanyGeorgiavoterscouldobtaintheappropriateIDintheshorttimebeforethenextelectionimposedasevereburdenontheirrighttovote);Morganv.CityofFlorissant,147F.3d772,774(8thCir.1998)(whereaslawsprovidingforthedrawingofstatepoliticalsubdivisionswarrant"reviewforarationalbasis,"laws"involvingthechoiceoflegislativerepresentativesorimposingrestrictionsonvoters...affect[]moresignificantrightsandconstitutionalconcerns,meritingstrictÊscrutinyreview").SimilartotheMissouricases,federalcourtshaveappliedrationalbasisreviewtoelectionÊlawcasesthatdonotdirectlyburdentherighttovote.SeeBurdick,504U.S.at434ÿ39(righttocandidateballotaccess);ACORNv.Bysiewicz,413F.Supp.2d119,143ÿ49(D.Conn.2003)(constitutionalityofpreÊelectionregistrationrequirements);Wexlerv.Anderson,452F.3d1226,1232(11thCir.2006)(constitutionalityofvotingmachinetechnology);Weberv.Shelley,347F.3d1101,1106ÿ07(9thCir.2003)(same).Thesecasesaredistinguishablebecausetheydonotinvolvedirectandheavyburdensontherighttovote.FN26.Whilethelegislatureneednotaddressallevilsatonetime,AdamsFordBelton,Inc.v.MissouriMotorVehicleComm'n,946S.W.2d199,202(Mo.banc1997),whetheralawisinfactnarrowlytailoredtoaddressfraudinvotingnecessarilyrequiresthisCourttolookatwhatkindsoffraudinvotinghavebeenshowntoexistandwhatkindsoffraudinvotingthePhotoÊIDRequirementwillameliorate.FN27.TheCourtsharesthedissent'sconcernwiththepersistenceoffraudinvoterregistrationandabsenteeballotinginMissouri.Unfortunately,thePhotoÊIDRequirementdoesnothingtoamelioratethosefrauds.Asthedissentnotes,theBakerÊCarterCommissionreportsupportsthegeneralconceptofaPhotoÊIDRequirementandtheappropriateuseofsignaturematch.ThisCourtalsodoesnotintendtosuggestthatnoformofsignaturematchcanbeconstitutionalorappropriate,butratherthattheformutilizedherepresentsproblemsthatprovidefurthersupportforitsdeterminationthatsection115.427isinvalid.TheCourtnotesthat,althoughformerPresidentCarter,coÊauthorofthecommissionreport,didnotspecificallycriticizeSB1014'ssignaturematchrequirement,hedidstatethatSB1014doesnotmeetcommissionstandards.FN28.AppellantscitetoFirstAmendmentcasesaddressingcampaignfinancerestrictionstosupporttheircontentionthattheperceptionoffraudorcorruptionshouldbeentitledtogreaterweight.See,e.g.,McConnellv.FederalElectionComm'n,540U.S.93,143(2003)("thepreventionofcorruptionoritsappearanceconstitutesasufficientlyimportantinterest").Inthecontextofcampaignfinancereform,theappearanceofcorruptionarisesdirectlyfromtheextensivefinancialcontributionsmadetopoliticalcandidatesbythosewithastakeinlegislativedecisions.Thestatutesunderreviewincampaignfinancecasesareallnarrowlytailoredtoaddressandlimitthosecontributions.EventhoughtheUnitedStatesSupremeCourthasrecognizedtheimportanceofcombatingtheappearanceofcorruption,ithasnonethelessinvalidatedmanyofthesestatutespreciselybecausetheyimposeasevereandundueburdenonfundamentalrightsundertheFirstAmendment.See,e.g.,Randallv.Sorrell,ÿÿÿU.S.ÿÿÿ,126S.Ct.2479,2486(2006)(holdingthatcampaignfinancerestrictionsareunconstitutionalbecause"theyimposeburdensuponFirstAmendmentintereststhat...aredisproportionatelysevere").Unlikethecampaignfinancelaws,thePhotoÊIDRequirementdoesnotaddressanyperceptionofvoterfraudwithprecision,norisitnecessarytosolvetheexistingvoterfraudproblems.Onthesefacts,perceptionsaloneareinsufficientto



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #14norisitnecessarytosolvetheexistingvoterfraudproblems.Onthesefacts,perceptionsaloneareinsufficienttojustifysubstantialburdensonfundamentalrights.FN29.ThepermanentprovisionsofSB1014'sPhotoÊIDRequirementhavebeeninfulleffectsincetheenactmentofSB1014.Thetransitionalprovisionmerelyprovidesanalternativemethodofvoting(byprovisionalballotinsteadofregularballot)forpersonswholacktheappropriatephotoÊIDduringthetransitionalperiod.SeparateOpinion:DissentingopinionbyStephenN.Limbaugh,Jr.,Judge:Irespectfullydissent.WhateverthedeficienciesintheMissouriVoterProtectionAct(MVPA),whetherrealorimagined,theallowanceforprovisionalvotingcuresall,atleastduringthetwoÊyeartransitionperiodbeforethegeneralelectionin2008.Untilthattime,everypersonwhoisproperlyregisteredtovotewillbeallowedtodoso,evenwithoutavalidphotographicidentification(photoID),andindeed,everypersonwhowouldhavebeenallowedtovotebeforetheenactmentoftheMVPAwillbeallowedtodosojustasbefore.ThosepersonswhohavenophotoIDcancastaprovisionalballotusingthesame,simplemeansofidentificationthathavebeenrequiredsince2002,andallprovisionalballotsproperlycastwillbecounted.Inaddition,adeterminationoftheconstitutionalityofthephotoIDprovisionsoftheActasitappliesafterthetwoÊyeartransitionperiodisnotyetripeforadjudication,becauseitmaywellbethattheGeneralAssembly,intheinterim,willacttoalleviatetheperceiveddeficiencies.I.Asthemajoritynotes,provisionalballotingstatuteswerefirstenactedbytheGeneralAssemblyin2002inresponsetothemandateofthefederal"HelpAmericaVoteAct,"(HAVA),42U.S.C.sec.15482.HAVArequiresthatstatesprovidea"failÊsafe"procedureforvotingsothatapersonwhoseregistrationoridentityischallengedcancastaprovisionalvotethatwillbecountedifitislaterdeterminedthatthepersonwasindeedentitledtovote.Inpertinentpart,HAVAstates:(2)Theindividualshallbepermittedtocastaprovisionalballotatthatpollingplaceupontheexecutionofawrittenaffirmationbytheindividualbeforeanelectionofficialatthepollingplacestatingthattheindividualis:(A)aregisteredvoterinthejurisdictioninwhichtheindividualdesirestovote;and(B)eligibletovoteinthatelection.(3)Anelectionofficialatthepollingplaceshalltransmittheballotcastbytheindividualorthevoterinformationcontainedinthewrittenaffirmationexecutedbytheindividualunderparagraph(2)toanappropriateStateorlocalelectionofficialforpromptverificationunderparagraph(4).(4)IftheappropriateStateorlocalelectionofficialtowhomtheballotorvoterinformationistransmittedunderparagraph(3)determinesthattheindividualiseligibleunderStatelawtovote,theindividual'sprovisionalballotshallbecountedasavoteinthatelectioninaccordancewithStatelaw.Missouri'sprovisionalvotingstatutesareinfullaccordwithHAVA.Inparticular,section115.427.13,RSMoSupp.2006,theprovisionalvotingstatutethatappliestopersonswhodonotpresentavalidphotoIDwhenvotinginelectionsduringthetwoÊyeartransitionperiod,states:13.ForanyelectionheldonorbeforeNovember1,2008,anindividualwhoappearsatapollingplacewithoutidentificationintheformdescribedinsubsection1ofthissection,andwhoisotherwisequalifiedtovoteatthatpollingplace,maycastaprovisionalballotafter:(1)Executinganaffidavitwhichisalsosignedbytwosupervisingelectionjudges,onefromeachmajorpoliticalparty,whoattestthattheyhavepersonalknowledgeoftheidentityofthevoter,providedthatthetwosupervisingelectionjudgeswhosignanaffidavitunderthissubdivisionshallnotbeinvolvedorparticipateintheverificationofthevoter'seligibilitybytheelectionauthorityaftertheprovisionalballotiscast;or(2)(a)Executinganaffidavitaffirminghisorheridentity;and(b)Presentingaformofidentificationfromthefollowinglist:a.IdentificationissuedbythestateofMissouri,anagencyofthestate,oralocalelectionauthorityofthestate;b.IdentificationissuedbytheUnitedStatesgovernmentoragencythereof;c.Identificationissuedbyaninstitutionofhighereducation,includingauniversity,college,vocationalandtechnicalschool,locatedwithinthestateofMissouri;d.Acopyofacurrentutilitybill,bankstatement,governmentcheck,paycheck,orothergovernmentdocumentthatcontainsthenameandaddressofthevoter;ore.Driver'slicenseorstateidentificationcardissuedbyanotherstate.Suchprovisionalballotshallbeentitledtobecounted,providedtheelectionauthorityverifiestheidentityoftheindividualbycomparingthatindividual'ssignaturetothecurrentsignatureonfilewiththeelectionauthorityanddeterminesthattheindividualwasotherwiseeligibletocastaballotatthepollingplacewheretheballotwascast.



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #15UnderthevotinglawsineffectbeforetheenactmentoftheMVPA,allregularvoterswererequiredtopresentoneofseveralapprovedformsofidentification,whichincludedcertainnonÊphotoIDs.Sec.115.427.1,RSMoSupp.2002.(FN1)Now,underthetransitionalprovisionalvotingsectionsoftheMVPA,individualsmaystillvotebypresentingthesameformsofnonÊphotoIDthatwerepermittedbeforetheenactmentofMVPA–even"acopyofacurrentutilitybill,bankstatement,governmentcheck…."Sec.115.427.13.TheonlydifferenceisthatvoterswhopresentaformofidentificationotherthananapprovedphotoIDmustalsosignasimpletwoÊsentenceformaffidavitavailableatthepollingplaceswearingtothefactthattheyarewhotheysaytheyare.Sec.115.427.14,RSMoSupp.2006.Then,oncetheaffidavitsignatureisverified"bycomparingthatindividual'ssignaturetothecurrentsignatureonfilewiththeelectionauthority,"theprovisionalballot"shallbecounted."Thisprovisionalvotingprocedureof"writtenaffirmation"and"promptverification"ofthataffirmation–mandatedbyHAVA–isnorealburdenonanindividual'srighttovote. A.Althoughthemajoritymakesclearthatitisnotholdingtheprovisionalvotingsectionsunconstitutional,itsuggests,nonetheless,thattheprovisionalvotingproceduresmaypresentaconstitutionalissue.Thestatedconcernisthat"noexceptiontothesignaturematchrequirementismadeforMissourianswhoareunable,becauseofdisabilityorage,tomakeasignatureorwhosesignaturehaschangedduetoageorthepassageoftimesincetheymadetheiroriginalsignaturewhentheyinitiallyregisteredtovote."Tellingly,themajoritycitesnoauthoritywhatsoeverthatasignaturematchrequirementisaconstitutionallyimpermissiblemeanstoverifyavoter'sidentity.Afterall,thesignaturematchrequirementwastakendirectlyfromthereportoftheCommissionofFederalElectionReformcoÊchairedbyformerPresidentJimmyCarterandformerSecretaryofStateJamesA.Baker,Jr.Inparticular,section2.5.3ofthatreportstates:WerecommendthatuntilJanuary1,2010,statesallowvoterswithoutavalidphotoIDcard(RealorEACÊtemplateID)tovote,usingaprovisionalballotbysigninganaffidavitunderpenaltyofperjury.Thesignaturewouldthenbematchedwiththedigitalimageofthevoter'ssignatureonfileinthevoterregistrationdatabase,andifthematchispositive,theprovisionalballotshouldbecounted.…Exceptforprovidingadigitalimageofthevoter'ssignaturefromthevoterregistrationdatabase,theMVPAsignaturematchprovisionsareexactlythesame.Themajorityappearsparticularlytroubledbyallegationsthatvoterswhocannotmakeasignaturewillbedisenfranchised.However,section115.427.12,whichthemajoritydisavows,adequatelyaddressesthatconcern.Thatsectionprovides:Ifanyvoterisunabletosignhisnameattheappropriateplaceonthecertificateorcomputerprintout,anelectionjudgeshallprintthenameandaddressofthevoterintheappropriateplaceontheprecinctregister,thevotershallmakehismarkinlieuofsignature,andthevoter'smarkshallbewitnessedbythesignatureofanelectionjudge.Section115.427.12allowsvoterstosignbymarkonthevoter'sidentificationcertificateinsection115.427.9,whichistheswornoathconfirmingthevoter'sidentityandregistrationthatallvotersmustsignbeforereceivingaregularballot.The"mark"provisionofsection115.427.12necessarilyappliesaswelltotheprovisionalvoteraffidavitbecausethataffidavitisusedinlieuofthevoter'sidentificationcertificateforthosevoterscastingaprovisionalballotundersection115.427.13.(FN2)Thereareatleastthreerulesofstatutoryconstructionthatcompelthisconclusion.First,becausethesesectionsrelatetothesamesubjectmatter,theymustbereadinparimateria,thatis,theymustbeinterpretedharmoniouslyandconsistentlywitheachother.Baldwinv.DirectorofRevenue,38S.W.3d401,403(Mo.banc2001).Second,thesesectionsmustbeconstruedliberallyinsupportofthefundamentalrighttovote.Stateexrel.SchoolDist.ofCityofJefferson,ColeCountyv.Holman,349S.W.2d945,947(Mo.banc1961).Andthird,thesesectionsmustbeconstrued"inlightofastrongpresumptionofastatute'svalidity,"andthisCourtwill"makeeveryreasonableintendment"tothatend.ReproductiveHealthServicesv.Nixon,185S.W.3d685,688(Mo.banc2006).Whensections115.427.12and115.427.13areconstruedintheseways,allvoterswhocannotmakeasignature,whetherregularorprovisional,maymaketheirmarkwiththeassistanceofanelectionjudge.Regardless,themajoritystillcomplainsthattheprovisionalballotsofvoterswhosigntheirballotaffidavitsbymarkwillnotbecountedbecausetherecanbenosignaturematchofamark.Again,themajorityseemsunwillingtoreadtheseinterÊconnectedvotingstatutesinparimateriaandtoconstruethemliberallyinsupportofthefundamentalrighttovoteandinviewofthepresumptionofconstitutionality.Inmymind,justassigningbymarkisanexceptiontothesignaturerequirementtoproveone'sidentityforregistering(sec.115.161)andforvoting(sec.115.427.12),sotooitisimplicitlyanexceptiontothesignaturematchrequirementtoproveone'sidentityforprovisionalvoting.Havingallowedvoterswhocannotmakeasignaturetosignbymark,theGeneralAssemblysurelycannothaveintendedthatthosepersonsarenonethelesssubjecttoasignaturematch.Indeed,tosubmitvoterswhosignbymarktoasignaturematchwouldbeanabsurdconstructionofthestatuteandwouldleadtotheabsurdconclusionthattheirprovisionalballotswouldnotbecounted.Thatresult,however,wouldnotobtainundertheaboverulesofconstruction,nottomentionthecorollaryruleofconstructionthatitispresumed"thatthelegislaturedidnotintendtoenactanabsurdlaw."CareandTreatmentofSchottelv.State,159S.W.3d836,842(Mo.banc2005).IntheseinstancesIwouldholdthattheidentityofavoterwhocannotsignbysignatureisestablishedsimplybythemark,thewitnessthereto,andthepresentationofanotherwiseapprovednonÊphotoID.B.



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #16B.Themajorityalsosuggeststhatprovisionalvotingrequirementswillnotapplyinmunicipalandlocalelections(asopposedtoprimaryandgeneralelections)because"[t]heonlymethodofdeterminingeligibilityofthosewhocastsuchprovisionalballotsispursuanttosection115.430,"whichbyitsterms,"shallapplytoprimaryandgeneralelections...."However,section115.427.13expresslystatesthatanindividualappearingwithoutaphotoIDmaycastaprovisionalballotin"anyelectionheldonorbeforeNovember1,2008…."(emphasisadded).Thatsaid,section115.430isinternallyinconsistent.Ononehand,itstatesthatitsprovisions"shallapplytoprimaryandgeneralelections,"and,ontheotherhand,itstatesthat"avoter…shallbeentitledtovoteaprovisionalballot…uponexecutinganaffidavitundersection115.427,"which,asnoted,allowsprovisionalvotinginanyelection.However,readingthesesectionsinparimateria,thediscrepancymayproperlyberesolvedandthestatutesharmonizedbyreferencetothefactthatsection115.430waslateramended,aspartoftheMVPA,torelatebacktosection115.427,thusexpandingthescopeofsection115.430toencompass"anyelection."Alternatively,thedoctrineofrepealbyimplicationcontrols.ThisCourthasconsistentlyheldthatwhentwostatutoryprovisionsarerepugnant,"thelateract...operatestotheextentoftherepugnancytorepealthefirst."Morrowv.CityofKansasCity,788S.W.2d278,281(Mo.banc1990).Thedoctrinehasclassicapplicationtothiscase:Becausesection115.430wasamendedtoincorporatesection115.427andthatsection'sapplicationto"anyelection,"theamendmenttosection115.430servedtorepealbyimplicationsection115.430'slimitationtoprimaryandgeneralelections. C.Ultimately,themajoritydisallowsthetwoÊyeartransitionprovisionsnotbecauseofthesignaturematchissueorthelocalandmunicipalelectionissue,butinsteadbecausethetwoÊyeartransitionprovisionsarenotseverablefromthepermanentprovisionsthatbecomeeffectivefortheNovember2008elections.Thecontrollingauthority,section1.140,RSMo,statesasfollows:Theprovisionsofeverystatuteareseverable.Ifanyprovisionofastatuteisfoundbyacourtofcompetentjurisdictiontobeunconstitutional,theremainingprovisionsofthestatutearevalidunlessthecourtfindsthevalidprovisionsofthestatutearesoessentiallyandinseparablyconnectedwith,andsodependentupon,thevoidprovisionthatitcannotbepresumedthelegislaturewouldhaveenactedthevalidprovisionswithoutthevoidone;orunlessthecourtfindsthatthevalidprovisions,standingalone,areincompleteandareincapableofbeingexecutedinaccordancewiththelegislativeintent.AsinterpretedbythisCourt,section1.140meansthatall"statutesarepresumptivelyseverable."GeneralMotorsCorp.v.DirectorofRevenue,981S.W.2d561,568(Mo.banc1998).ThemajorityholdsthatbecausethepermanentphotoIDsectionsinSB1014fail,thetwoÊyeartransitionalprovisionsmustfailaswell,asthoseprovisionsare"soessentiallyandinseparablyconnectedwithandsodependentupon"thepermanentsections.Thereisnoclaim,however,that"thevalidprovisions[thetwoÊyeartransitionalsections]standingalone,areincompleteandareincapableofbeingexecutedinaccordancewiththelegislativeintent,"andclearlythosesectionscaninfactstandaloneandareinfactcompleteandcapableofbeingexecutedinaccordancewiththelegislativeintent.Instead,themajorityclaimsthat"[n]othinginSB1014suggeststhatthelegislaturewouldhaveenactedthetransitionalprovisionswithoutthepermanentprovisions."Tothecontrary,hadtheGeneralAssemblytrulyintendedthetransitionalprovisionssetoutinsection115.427.13tobenonseverable,itwouldhavesaidsoexpressly,justasitdidinsection115.427.11,acompanionsectionenactedaspartoftheverysamebill,SB1014.Section115.427.11,whichpertainstothesecretaryofstate'sauthoritytopromulgateadministrativerules"toeffectuatetheprovisionsofthissection[115.427.10]"states:Anyruleorportionofarule,asthattermisdefinedinsection536.010,RSMo,thatiscreatedundertheauthoritydelegatedinthissectionshallbecomeeffectiveonlyifitcomplieswithandissubjecttoalloftheprovisionsofchapter536,RSMo[theAdministrativeProcedureActasitrelatestotheproceduresforpromulgatingadministrativerules],and,ifapplicable,section536.028,RSMo.Thissectionandchapter536,RSMo,areNONSEVERABLE...."(emphasisadded).TheclearimplicationoftheGeneralAssembly'sexpressnonseverabilitydeclarationisthattheothersections,includingsection115.427.13,noneofwhichcontainsuchadeclaration,remainseverableinaccordancewiththestatutorypresumptioninsection1.140.Evenwithoutthatclearimplication,thereisamplegoodreasontoabidebythestatutorypresumption.Inalllikelihood,theGeneralAssemblywouldhaveintendedforthetransitionalprovisionstobeineffectforonlytwoyearsdespitetheinvalidityofthepermanentprovisions,becauseatleastthevotingpublicwouldhavehadthebenefitofthephotoIDrequirementduringthattime,albeitinamorerestrictedformat.Inaddition,thetransitionalprovisions,withtheirallowanceforextensiveprovisionalvoting,havetheapparentpurposeto"buytime"fortheGeneralAssemblytocorrectanyconstitutionalinfirmitiesinthepermanentprovisionsofthestatutethatthecourtsmightdiscoverduringthetwoÊyearinterimperiod.Thatcontingency,ofcourse,hasbeenborneoutinthisverycase.Themajority'sreasoninginthisregard,however–that"Thetransitionalprovision[s...are]justthat:transitional"–isaltogetherempty,asitwouldassignnopurposeatalltothetransitionalprovisions.Andifthemajorityisthusunabletoidentifyapurposetothetransitionalprovisionsthatwouldjustifyovercomingthepresumptionofseverability,thenhowcanitbefairlysaidthatthepresumptionhasbeenovercome?Inthefinalanalysis,perhapsthebestrecitationofthenotionofseverability,andthemostaccuratecapsulizationofthewordsofsection1.140,isfoundinthejurisprudenceoftheUnitedStatesSupremeCourt,statedmost



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #17ofthewordsofsection1.140,isfoundinthejurisprudenceoftheUnitedStatesSupremeCourt,statedmostrecentlyinAyottev.PlannedParenthoodofNorthernNewEngland,_U.S._,126S.Ct.961,968(2006):"Afterfindinganapplicationorportionofastatuteunconstitutional,wemustnextask:Wouldthelegislaturehavepreferredwhatisleftofitsstatutetonostatuteatall?"Inthiscase,Ihavenodoubtthatthelegislature'sanswerwouldbearesoundingyes. D.Insum,IwouldholdthatprovisionalvotingduringthetransitionaltwoÊyearperiodisnotconstitutionallyinfirm,thattheallowanceforprovisionalvotingduringthatperiodprecludesanylegitimateclaimofvoterdisenfranchisement,andthatthetransitionalprovisionsareseverable.II.BecausethepermanentprovisionsoftheMVPAdonottakeeffectuntilthegeneralelectioninNovemberof2008,anydecisionontheconstitutionalityofthatpartoftheActispremature.Reliefgrantedbywayofadeclaratoryjudgmentisnotavailable"toadjudicatehypotheticalorspeculativesituationswhichmaynevercometopass."Stateexrel.Nixonv.AmericanTobaccoCo.,Inc.,34S.W.3d122,128(Mo.banc2000),citingFarmBureauTown&CountryIns.Co.v.Angoff,909S.W.2d348,352(Mo.banc1995).Saidanotherway,adeclaratoryjudgmentrequiresajusticiablecontroversy,whichmeans,inpart,thatthecontroversyisripeforjudicialdetermination.MissouriHealthCareAss'nv.AttorneyGeneraloftheStateofMo.,953S.W.2d617,620(Mo.banc1997).Toberipe,acontroversymustbe"ofsufficientimmediacyandrealitytowarranttheissuanceofadeclaratoryjudgment."Id.at621.Moreover,acontroversyisonlyripe"iftheparties'disputeisdevelopedsufficientlytoallowthecourttomakeanaccuratedeterminationofthefacts,toresolveaconflictthatispresentlyexisting,andtograntspecificreliefofaconclusivecharacter."Id.Althoughthemajorityclaimsthat"Missouriansmusttakeactionandincurcostsnow,"itthenconcedesthattherealdeadlineisafulltwoyearsfromnow.Andalthoughthemajorityiscorrectthatthestatuteispresentlyineffect,twoyearswillpassbeforethepartsofthestatutethemajorityfindsunconstitutionalwillbeimplemented.Untilthattime,noharm,realorimagined,willcometoanyvoter.Inthemeantime,however,theevidenceonwhichthetrialcourtbaseditsfindingsandjudgmentissubjecttosignificantchange.Forinstance,plaintiffs'primarygrievance–thatthecostofsecuringbirthcertificatesorotherformsofsuitableidentificationinordertoobtaina"free"photoIDisanundueburdenontherighttovote–maywellbesatisfactorilyaddressedbytheGeneralAssemblyduringitsupcomingsessions.Ifso,thetrialcourtandthisCourtwouldbehardpressedtomaintainthatthestatuteisunconstitutional.GiventhetwoÊyeartransitionperiod,thereisnoimmediacytothecontroversy,nopossibilityforanaccuratedeterminationofthefacts,andnowaytograntreliefspecifictotheallegedharm.Todeclarethestatuteunconstitutionalunderthesecircumstancesisastraightforwardviolationoftheripenessdoctrine. III.AlthoughIwouldnotreachthemeritsoftheclaimagainstthepermanentprovisionsoftheMVPAduetolackofripeness,Icannotleaveunchallengedthemajority'sincompleterecitationofthefactspertainingtotheexistenceofvoterfraudandtheneedforaphotoIDsystemtocombatthatfraud.Accordingtothemajority,therehasbeennofraudinthepollingplaces;thusnoneedtopreventit.Buttheevidence,inpart,isthis:Inaninvestigativereportissuedafterthe2000presidentialelectionbyoutgoingSecretaryofStateRebeccaMcDowellCook,andintroducedinevidenceinthiscase,"135peoplewhowerenotregisteredtovotewerepermittedtovoteatapollingplacewithoutacourtorderandwithoutapparentauthorizationfrom[anelection]BoardOfficial."AsubsequentreportfromthenSecretaryofStateMattBluntnoted,aseventheplaintiffshaveacknowledgedhere,that79votersregisteredfromvacantlots,45peoplevotedtwice,and14voteswerecastbythe"dead."Further,aspartofafederalinvestigationintheaftermathofthe2000election,theUnitedStatesDepartmentofJusticefoundastunninglylargenumberofduplicateandineligiblevoterregistrationsthroughoutthestate.Accordingtothatreport,[A]comparisonofStatevoterregistrationdatapostedonthewebsiteoftheMissouriSecretaryofStatewithdatafromtheUnitedStatesCensusBureauindicatesthatatleast34(nearlyoneÊthird)oftheelectionjurisdictionsinMissourihadmoreregisteredvotersinNovember2004thantherewerepersonsofvotingageinthosejurisdictionsunderJuly2003Censusestimates(releasedSeptember2004),andthat29electionjurisdictionsintheStatehadmoreregisteredvotersinNovember2004thantherewerepersonsofvotingageinthosejurisdictionsunderJuly2004Censusestimates(releasedAugust2005).Indeed,theState'sdataindicatesthatthelocalelectionjurisdictionwiththehighestratio,ReynoldsCounty,had153%ofits2003Censusvotingagepopulation,and151%ofits2004Censusvotingagepopulation,registeredtovoteintheNovember2004federalelection.ThisState'sdatafurtherindicatesthat,statewide,MissourihadvoterregistrationtotalsinNovember2004amountingto98percentofthestate'svotingagepopulationaccordingtoJuly2003Censusestimatesand96percentofthestate'svotingagepopulationaccordingtoJuly2004Censusestimates.Althoughthemajorityagreesthatthereissomeevidenceofvoterfraudatthevoterregistrationstage,theydiscountthatevidenceasifithadnoconnectionwithfraudatthepollingplace.Butwhyelsedoesvoterregistrationfraudoccurifnottovotepersonsfraudulentlyregistered?Andif,asintheDOJreport,therearemorevotersregisteredtovotethanpersonseligibletovote,therequirementtopresentaphotoIDwillatleasteliminatethosewhoattempttovoteintheplaceofothersandthosewhoattempttovotemorethanonce.Itmustbesaid,too,thateveniftherewerenosubstantialevidenceofexistingvoterimpersonationfraud,legislaturesarepermittedtorespondtothepotentialforsuchfraud,andtheymaydoso"withforesight"rather



10/18/06http://www.courts.mo.gov/Courts/PubOpi...b2479b16d86257209005f0e7a?OpenDocument #18legislaturesarepermittedtorespondtothepotentialforsuchfraud,andtheymaydoso"withforesight"ratherthan"reactively."Munrov.SocialistWorkersParty,479U.S.189(1986).Inanyevent,astheCarterÊBakerCommissionrecentlyconcluded,"thereisnodoubtthat[inÊpersonvoterfraud]occurs"andthatsuchfraud"couldoffsettheoutcomeofcloseelections." IV.Fortheforegoingreasons,Iwouldreversethejudgmentofthetrialcourt.(FN3)Footnotes:FN1.Inthealternative,ifthevoterswereknowntothesupervisingelectionjudges,theyneednothavepresentedanIDbutwererequiredtoswearoutanaffidavitattestedtobythoseelectionjudges.Sec.115.427.1,RSMoSupp.2002.FN2.Themajority'sassertioninfootnote8thatthesignaturetobemadeontheprovisionalballotis"anadditionalsignature"tothatwhich"mustbemadeontheprecinctregister"appearstobeincorrect.Personswhoappearatapollingplaceandwhodonothaveanapprovedidentificationneednotsigntheoathonthe"Voter'sIdentificationCertificate,"butproceeddirectlytoprovisionalvotingbyexecutinganaffidavitaffirminghisorheridentitystating,"Idosolemnlyswear(oraffirm)thatmynameis_____;thatIresideat_____;andthatIamthepersonlistedintheprecinctregisterunderthisnameandatthisaddress."Sec.115.427.13,14.FN3.Likethemajority,Iwouldnotaddressplaintiff'sHancockclaimsatthistimebecause,althoughthetrialcourtmadecertainfindingsinfavorofplaintiffs,itenteredjudgmentinfavorofdefendantsandplaintiffsdidnotfileacrossÊappeal.ThisslipopinionissubjecttorevisionandmaynotreflectthefinalopinionadoptedbytheCourt.Judiciary|SupremeCourt|CourtofAppeals|CircuitCourtsOfficeofStateCourtsAdministrator|StatewideCourtAutomationCase.net|CourtOpinions|Newsroom|RelatedSites|CourtFormsContactUs|


